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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

BURTON W. WIAND, as Receiver for
OASIS INTERNATIONAL GROUP, LTD.;
OASIS MANAGEMENT, LLC; AND
SATELLITE HOLDINGS COMPANY,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No: 8:20-cv-00862-VMC-TGW
CHRIS AND SHELLEY ARDUINI, et al.,

Defendants.
/

RECEIVER’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT KAYLA CROWLEY’S
MOTION TO DISMISS [DOC. 495]

Plaintiff, BURTON W. WIAND, as Receiver for OASIS INTERNATIONAL GROUP,

LTD.; OASIS MANAGEMENT, LLC; AND SATELLITE HOLDINGS COMPANY
(“Receiver”), through undersigned counsel responds to Defendant’s, KAYLA CROWLEY
(“Crowley”), Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 495) and in support thereof states:
Executive Summary

Crowley’s Motion to Dismiss must be denied because Crowley’s arguments are contrary
to settled law. The Motion to Dismiss raises arguments previously rejected by this Court and
additional meritless arguments that fail as a matter of law and should be rejected. Accordingly,
the Motion to Dismiss must be denied.

Procedural Background
On April 14, 2020, the Receiver filed his Complaint against Crowley (Doc. 1) and on

September 12, 2020, he served Crowley with the Summons and Complaint. See Affidavit of

ENGLANDER FISCHER

ATTORNEYS
721 First Avenue North « St. Petersburg, Florida 33701
Phone (727) 898-7210 « Fax (727) 898-7218

eflegal.com
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Service filed on September 16, 2020 (Doc. 421). On October 1, 2020, Crowley filed her “By
Special Appearance Motion to Dismiss” (Doc. 495) (“Motion”). The Motion challenges personal
jurisdiction and the Receiver’s compliance with the requirements of 28 U.S.C. §754 and 28 U.S.C.
8 1692—arguments previously rejected by the Court’s August 17, 2020 Oral Order Denying
Motion to Quash at Doc. 344. Additionally, the Motion raises new claims that the Receiver failed
to join an indispensable party and failed to state a cause of action.

Memorandum of Law

l. The Defenses of Lack of Personal Jurisdiction and Insufficient Process are
Insufficient as a Matter of Law and Have Already Been Rejected by this Court.

Crowley erroneously argues that the Complaint should be dismissed for insufficient
process and lack of personal jurisdiction because the Receiver purportedly did not comply with
8§ 754’s jurisdictional requirement to file copies of the complaint and order of appointment in the
district court for each district in which the property is located within ten days after the entry of
his order of appointment. 28 U.S.C. § 754. Specifically, Crowley argues that the Receiver was
required to file a copy of the Complaint in the Eastern District of Texas by May 10, 2019 (ten
days after Plaintiff’s appointment as receiver on April 30, 2019) and instead filed the Complaint
in the Eastern District of Texas on July 18, 2019 (within ten days of a July 11, 2020 Consolidated
Receivership Order).! See Doc. 495, {1 25-26. According to Crowley, this Consolidated
Receivership Order is a nullity with respect to § 754 because it fails to expand the Receiver’s
powers or convert the Receiver’s appointment from temporary to permanent. (Doc. 495, 1 32.

Finally, Crowley reargues that the Court lacks personal jurisdiction over her due to the Receiver’s

1 Crowley resides in Wayne County Pennsylvania (Middle District of Pennsylvania), where she
was served with process in this action. (Doc. 421). The Motion replicated pro se Defendant, Alan
Johnston’s Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 416). Johnston resides in the Eastern District of Texas. The
Receiver responded to Johnston’s Motion to Dismiss on September 25, 2020. (Doc. 480).
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insufficiency of process. (Doc. 495, {1 35-39).

Initially, Crowley’s arguments regarding lack of personal jurisdiction and insufficient
process are identical to the arguments raised in Motions to Quash brought by several pro se
Defendants, which were previously denied by this Court. (Doc. 232-243, 258-261, and 344).
Accordingly, Crowley’s arguments should be rejected for the same reasons that the Court rejected
the pro se Defendants’ Motions to Quash. See August 17, 2020 Oral Order Denying Motion to
Quash at Doc. 344; see also United States v. Fleming, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 100329, at *15
(M.D. Fla. July 23, 2014) (denying defendants’ renewed motion to dismiss because it was filed
without leave of court and it merely reasserted the same arguments that had already been rejected
by the Court).

Regardless, as previously explained in the Receiver’s Omnibus Response in Opposition
to Motion to Quash Summons and Object to Jurisdiction (“Omnibus Response”) (Doc. 326), the
Commaodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC?) filed an enforcement action against various
defendants alleged to have violated the Commodity Exchange Act on April 15, 2019. See
C.F.T.C. v. Qasis International Group, Ltd., Case No. 8:19-cv-886-T-33SPF (M.D. Fla.)
(“CFTC Action”). Also on April 15, 2019, the Court entered a temporary order appointing the
Receiver and directed him to take possession of the Receivership Estate. (CFTC Action, Doc.
7). In response to the CTFC’s Motion for Entry of Consent Orders of Preliminary Injunction
(CFTC Action, Doc. 172), the court entered the July 11, 2019 Consolidated Receivership Order,
(CFTC Action, Doc. 177). The Consolidated Receivership Order superseded prior orders and
provided that “[t]his Order shall also constitute the appointment or re-appointment of the
Receiver for purposes of 28 U.S.C. 8 754.” (CFTC Action, Doc. 177 at §3). The Consolidated

Receivership Order also converted the Receiver’s appointment from temporary to permanent for
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several of the Defendants. (CFTC Action, Doc. 172, 177).

Thus, the Consolidated Receivership Order reappointed the Receiver and restarted the
clock for purposes of § 754. See SEC v. Vision Communs., 74 F.3d 287, 291 (D.C. Cir. 1996)
(explaining that the district court may reappoint a receiver and start the ten-day clock of § 754
anew); Terry v. June 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12873, at *7 (W.D. Va. July 21, 2003) (“Courts
having addressed this issue unanimously suggest that an order of reappointment will renew the
ten-day filing deadline mandated by section 754.””). Moreover, the clock restarts regardless of
whether the order reappointing the receiver is a temporary or permanent appointment order. Cf.
Terry, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16080, at *7 (“Section 754 does not, by its terms, distinguish
between initial orders of appointment and later reappointment of the receiver.”). Accordingly,
the July 11, 2019 Consolidated Receivership Order restarted the clock for purposes of § 754 and
the Receiver complied with § 754’s ten-day deadline by filing the Complaint in the Middle
District of Pennsylvania on July 17, 2019. See attached Exhibit “A.” Because Crowley’s
argument for insufficiency of process fails, her argument that the Court lacks personal
jurisdiction premised solely on the insufficiency of process also fails, and the Motion must be
denied.

1. The Defenses of Failure to State a Claim and Failure to Join an Indispensable
Party are Legally Insufficient.

Additionally, Crowley argues that the Complaint must be dismissed for failure to state a
claim and failure to join an indispensable party pursuant to Rule 19. Crowley’s arguments are
contrary to settled law and insufficient to entitle her to relief.

a. Failure to State a Claim
Crowley’s argument that the Complaint should be dismissed for failure to state a claim

upon which relief can be granted is not entirely clear; she raises general concerns about federal
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question jurisdiction and the insufficiency of the allegations in the Complaint without fully
developing a coherent argument. To the extent that Crowley is challenging this Court’s federal
question jurisdiction, “[i]t is established law that a federal court which appoints a receiver has
ancillary jurisdiction over all suits brought by the receiver in furtherance of the receivership.”
Quilling v. Cristell, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8480, at *11 (W.D.N.C. Feb. 9, 2006) (quoting City
of Detroit v. Michigan, 538 F. Supp. 1169, 1172 (E.D. Mich. 1982)); see also Pope v. Louisville,
N.A.v.C.R. Co., 173 U.S. 573, 577 (1899) (“When an action or suit is commenced by a receiver,
appointed by a Circuit Court, to accomplish the ends sought and directed by the suit in which the
appointment was made, such action or suit is regarded as ancillary so far as the jurisdiction of
the Circuit Court as a court of the United States is concerned.”).

Because such jurisdiction is ancillary, it is not dependent upon a showing of federal
question or diversity factors which would normally determine jurisdiction. See id. (citing Haile
v. Henderson Nat’l Bank, 657 F.2d 816, 825 (6th Cir. 1981). In short, this Court has jurisdiction
because this proceeding is ancillary to the CFTC Action, the proceeding in which the Receiver
was appointed. See Donell v. Kowell, 533 F.3d 762, 769 (9th Cir. 2008) (“Although the Receiver
only filed suit under a California statute, we have subject matter jurisdiction because the
proceeding is ancillary to the SEC enforcement action.”). Accordingly, the Court has subject
matter jurisdiction over this proceeding.

Next, for the remainder of her argument, Crowley merely recites the language of
Document 383, which is an order denying the Receiver’s motions for default judgment against
several Defendants not including Crowley (the “Order”). (Doc. 383). In the Order, the Court
found that the Receiver’s motions for default judgment lacked sufficient detail to entitle him to

relief, and it thus denied the motions without prejudice. (Doc. 383). The Order does not make
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any finding about the sufficiency of the allegations in the Complaint. Indeed, the Order’s citation
to Local Rule 3.01—a Rule which applies only to “a motion or other application for an order,”
and not pleadings—shows that the Court was concerned only with the sufficiency of the
substance of the motions for default judgment, and not the allegations in the Complaint.
Accordingly, Crowley’s reliance on the Order in support of her argument that the Complaint fails
to state a claim upon which relief can be granted is misplaced, and Crowley is not entitled to
relief on that basis.
b. Indispensable Party

Finally, Crowley argues that the Complaint must be dismissed because the Receiver failed
to join indispensable parties—Michael J. DaCorta, Joseph S. Anile, 1I, Raymond Montie, 1lI,
Francisco “Frank™ L. Duran, and John J. Haas (collectively, the “Insiders”)—pursuant to Rule
19. In other words, Crowley argues that the debtors (or transferors) are necessary parties to this
fraudulent transfer action. However, as explained below, “the [d]ebtor is not an indispensable
party to a fraudulent transfer suit.” Jensen v. Captiva Limousine Serv. (In re Rajkovic), 289 B.R.
197, 199 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2002).

A party is necessary if its joinder is required in order to (1) “render complete relief among
those already parties to the litigation,” (2) “prevent impairment of the absent party’s ability to
protect its interest in the subject matter of the litigation,” or (3) “protect any of the existing parties
to the litigation from a substantial risk of incurring multiple or inconsistent obligations.” WMH
Tool Group H.K. Ltd. v. Ill. Indust. Tool, Inc., 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 38542, at *9 (N.D. Ill. May
24, 2006). “A fraudulent transfer claim is an action to set aside, or void, a transfer of assets.” Id.
Because the challenged transfer will be voided if the claim is successful, the outcome necessarily

impacts the transferee, and the transferee is a necessary party. Id. at *9-*10. However, “where
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a transferor has retained no interest in the property at issue, the transferor is not an indispensable
party.” Still v. Hopkins (In re Hopkins), 494 B.R. 306, 314 (E.D. Tenn. Bankr. 2013).

Here, the Insiders do not retain any interest in the property that the Receiver seeks to
recover, and thus they are not implicated by Rule 19. See id. at 315; see also In re Silverman,
603 B.R. 498, 502 (Bankr. D.N.M. 2019) (“Case law makes clear that the transferor is not a
necessary party to an avoidance action brought against the transferee if the transferor did not
retain any interest in the transferred property.”). Indeed, Florida’s Uniform Fraudulent Transfer
Act (“FUFTA”) allows a claim to be brought by the creditor directly against the transferee, even
though the transferee was not the party that made the fraudulent transfer. See § 726.109(2)(a)
(“[JJudgment may be entered against . . . [t]he first transferee of the asset or the person for whose
benefit the transfer was made.”). Accordingly, because the Insiders—the transferors—retain no
interest in the property the Receiver seeks to recover from Crowley in this action, the transferors
will not be prejudiced by failing to be joined in this action and the action is not subject to
dismissal pursuant to Rule 19.

WHEREFORE, the Receiver respectfully requests that this Court deny the Motion, direct
Crowley to file an answer within ten (10) days, and grant such other relief as this Court deems
just and proper.

Dated: October 2, 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

ENGLANDER FISCHER

[s/ Beatriz McConnell

JOHN W. WAECHTER

Florida Bar No. 47151

Primary: jwaechter@eflegal.com
Secondary: dturner@eflegal.com
BEATRIZ MCCONNELL
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Florida Bar No. 42119

Primary: bmcconnell@eflegal.com
Secondary: tdillon@eflegal.com
ALICIA GANGI

Florida Bar No. 1002753

Primary: agangi@eflegal.com
Secondary: tdillon@eflegal.com
COURTNEY L. FERNALD

Florida Bar No. 52669

Florida Bar Certified, Appellate Practice
Primary: cfernald@eflegal.com
Secondary: tdillon@eflegal.com
ENGLANDER and FISCHER LLP
721 First Avenue North

St. Petersburg, Florida 33731-1954
(727) 898-7210 / Fax (727) 898-7218
Attorneys for Receiver

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| HEREBY CERTIFY that on this day I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk

of the Court by using the CM/ECF system and will send copies by U.S mail and email as indicated

to the following:

Via Mail:

Chris Arduini

169 Allen Height Road
St Johnsville, NY 13452
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Offer Attia

217 Forest Ave

New Rochelle, NY 10804
914/632-5511

PRO SE

Betsy Doolin

6662 La Mirada Drive East, Unit 2
Jacksonville, FL 32217

PRO SE

Via Mail:
Henry Fuksman

Via Mail:

Shelley Arduini

169 Allen Height Road
St Johnsville, NY 13452
PRO SE

Via Malil:

Black Dragon Capital, LLC
c/o Michael Obay

450 Leverett Avenue
Staten Island, NY 10308
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Patrick Flander

1096 Youkers Bush Road
Saint Johnsville, NY 13452
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Anna Fuksman
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862 Fassett Road
Elmira, NY 14905
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Elmore Runee Harris
5 Whitney Drive
Greenwich, CT 06831
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Richard Hubbard
412 Woodbury Drive
Wyckoff, NJ 07481
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Timothy Hunte

2155 Rainlily Drive
Center Valley, PA 18034
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Kevin Kerrigan

14 Fieldstone Road
Putnam Valley, NY 10579
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Life's Elements, Inc.

c/o Kevin Johnson

810 Long Island Avenue
Medford, NY 11763
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Vince Petralis, Jr.

5162 W Ridge Blvd
Spencerport, NY 14559
PRO SE

Via Mail:
Frank Nagel

862 Fassett Road
Elmira, NY 14905
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Chad Hicks

3210 Vermont Road
Carterville, IL 62918
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Courtney Hubbard
412 Woodbury Drive
Wyckoff, NJ 07481
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Alan Johnston

2020 Holly Leaf Drive
Tyler, TX 75703

PRO SE

Via Mail:

Kerrigan Management, Inc.
c/o Kevin Kerrigan

14 Fieldstone Road
Putnam Valley, NY 10579
PRO SE

Via Mail:

David Paul Lipinczyk
6336 Redman Road
Brockport, NY 14420
PRO SE

Via Mail:

Vince Petralis (Sr.)

6 Adeane Drive West
Rochester, NY 14624
PRO SE
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10 Kyle Park
Carmel, NY 10512
PRO SE

/s/ Beatriz McConnell
Attorney for Plaintiff
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TAMPA DIVISION

_, COMMODITY F UTURES TRADING '

| COMMISSION - ‘ : : _"::
: Case No. 8:19-cv-886-VMC-SPF
Plamt1ff, : s
V. ' |

| OASIS INTERNATIONAL GROUP,

| LIMITED; OASIS MANAGEMENT, LLC;

| SATELLITE HOLDINGS COMPANY;;

| MICHAEL J. DACORTA; JOSEPH S.
ANILE, II; RAYMOND P. MONTIE, III;

| FRANCISCO “FRANK” L. DURAN; and
| JOHN J. HAAS :

Defendants; :
X and -

| MAINSTREAM FUND SERVICES INC
| BOWLING GREEN CAPITAL i

MANAGEMENT LLC; LAGOON
| INVESTMENTS, INC.; ROAR OF THE

| LION FITNESS, LLC; 444 GULF OF
' | MEXICO DRIVE, LLC; 4064 FOUNDERS
| CLUB DRIVE, LLC; 6922 LACANTERA
- | CIRCLE, LLC; 13318 LOST KEY PLACE,
' 'LLC and 40AKS LLC ’

' ‘Rehef Defendants |

~ FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF,
CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIES, RESTITUTION, DISGORGEMENT
AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF
Plaintiff Commodlty Futures Trading Comm1ss1on (“CF TC” or “Comm1ss1on”) by

and through its attorneys alleges as follows

“Exhibit "A"
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L SUMMARY
L | Smce 2011, Defendants Oas1s International Group, L1m1ted (“OIG”) Oa51s
‘iManagement LLC (“OM”) Satellite Holdmgs Company (“Satelllte Holdmgs”) Mrchael J. '
DaCorta (“DaCorta”), Joseph S. Amle 1I (“Amle”) Raymond P. Montie, III (“Mont1e”)
Francisco “Frank” L. Duran (“Duran”) and John J. Haas (“Haas”), (collect1vely,
“Defendants”) have engaged in a fraudulent scheme to solicit and m1sappropr1ate money
; from over 700 U.S. res1dents for pooled investments in retall foreign currency contracts
: (“forex”). Between m1d-Apr1l 2014 and the present (the “Relevant Perrod”),‘ Defendants
have fraudulently s011c1ted hundreds of members of the publrc (“pool partrc1pants ’) to invest
approx1mately $75 m11110n in two commodity pools—Oas1s Global FX, L1m1ted (“Oas1s Pool¢ | j
| ’1”) and Oasrs Global FX SA (“Oas1s Pool 2%) (collect1vely, the “Oas1s Pools”) that .
purportedly Would trade in forex. Rather than use pool part1c1pants funds for forex tradmg
‘ fas promlsed however Defendants have traded only a small portlon of pool funds 1n forex—
. :'whlch tradlng 1ncurred losses—and 1nstead mlsapproprlated the majorlty of pool part101pants
B _funds and issued false account statements to pool part1cxpants to conceal their trading losses o
and-.mrsapproprlatlon.‘ | |
) 20 In the courSe of their fraudulent ‘scheme and dUring'the»‘Relevant‘Peri/od,
\ ,Defendan’t's made materia'l“misrepre'sentations tov pool particip‘ants, vincl'udin'g that: (1) all pool -
funds’vvould be used to trade forex' @) pool partiCipants vvould receive a minimum 12%
: guaranteed annual return from thls forex tradmg, 3) the Oasis Poolswere proﬁtable and
returned 22% in 2017 and 21% in. 2018 (4) the Oas1s Pools had never had a los1ng month;

: (5) money bemg retumed to pool partrc1pants was from proﬁtable tradmg, (6) there wasno



Case 8:20-C\GAGBERAGMI: TGS it uDentFGML1 Fidadl0lIRTI09 PRggesd6BaPagelD 2638
Case 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF Document 110 Filed 06/12/19 Page 3 of 57 PagelD 909

- risk of loss with the Oas1s Pools; and: (7) pool participants earned extra returns by referring

72]

~other pool ‘participants’to the Oasis Pools. Defendants also omitted to tell pool partici-pan1: ,

' among othe'r things“ that DaCorta—the CEO of OIG and .the‘ Oasis Pools’ head' -trader———had

been permanently banned from reg1ster1ng W1th the Commrss1on in 2010 and Was  prohibited

from sol1c1t1ng U.S. res1dents to trade forex and from tradlng forex for U S. res1dents in any

capaC1ty. | |

3. Defendants representatrons uvere false. The Defendants have

- m1sappropr1ated the maj or1ty of pool funds of the approx1mate $75 m1111on Defendants

recelved from pool part1c1pants durmg the Relevant Perlod Defendants dep051ted only $21 » _‘ v»

- mllllon into forex tradlng accounts inthe r names of the Oas1s Pools all of whlch has been ost

| tradmg forex Defendants mrsapproprrated over $28 m1lllon of pool funds .to make Pona1-- |

| llke payments to other pool part1c1pants Defendants m1sappropr1ated over $18 mxll1on of|

pool funds—at least $7 mllllon’ of whrch was transferred to Relief Defendants—for

' ; unauthorlzed personal or business expenses such as real estate purchases m Florida, exotic -

vacatlons sports trckets pet supphes loans to family members and college and study abr >ad

_tu1t1o,n.‘ |

| 4, To conceal thelr tradmg losses and mrsappropr1at1on Defendants created and

1ssued false account statements to pool part1c1pants that mﬂated and mlsrepresentecl the-va ué, |

of the pool partr_crpants mvestments 1n-the QOasis Pools and the OasrsAPools_ trading returns.

5. | By Vl‘rtue of this‘condu’ct and the conduct further described herein‘, »

Defendants—either directly or as controlling persons—have engaged, are engaging, or are

> -

about to engage in acts and practices ih Vlolation of Sections 4b(a)v(2)(Al-(C), 4k(2), 4m(1
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| N zto(l»)(A)-(B)-,’ and 2(c)(2)(iii)(I)(cc) of the 'Commodity Exchange Act (the “Act?), 7 U.S‘C.b
§,§i6h(a)(2)(A)-('C) .6h(2) ‘6m(1), 60(1)(A)-(B) 2(c)(2)(iiij(I)(cc) (20’12) and Commrssion |
| Regulatlons (“Regulatrons”) 4. 20(b) (), 4.21, 5.2(b)(1)-(3), and 5 3(a)(2), 17 C. F R. | |
- §4.20(b)- (c) 4.21,5. 2(b)(1) (3) 5. 3(a)(2) (2018)
| 6. 'Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court,‘Defendants will likely continue
to engage in acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and similar acts and praCtices,v as
described below. | |
} 7. AccOrdingly, the Commissiton brings this action pursuant to Sectio’n 6¢c of the
Act, 7U.S. C § 13a-1 (2012) and Sectlon 2(c)(2)(C) of the Act, 7 U S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)
‘(2012) to enjom Defendants unlawful acts and practlces to compel their compllance with |
the Act and the Regulatlons promulgated thereunder and to enjom them from engagmg 1n |
| ‘any commodrty-related act1v1ty In addltlon the Commlssron seeks civil monetary penaltles
and remedlal ancrllary rellef mcludmg, but not limited to tradmg and reglstratron bans,
restltutlon dlsgorgement rescission, pre- and post-Judgment mterest and such other and
furtherrellef a_s the Court, may deem necessary and approprlate. : | ‘
H’I'I.:‘ JURISDICTION AND VENUE B
| 8. The Court has Jurlsdlctron of thrs action pursuant to 28 U S C.§ 1331 (2012)
| '(codlfymg federal questlon _]urlSdlCthl‘l) and 28 U.S.C. § 1345 (2012) (provrdmg that district
- courts have or1g1nal _]urlsdlctlon over ClVll actions commenced by the Umted States or by any o
- agency expressly authorlzed to sue by Act of Congress) In addltlon Sectron 6¢c(a) of the
Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1(a) (2012) authorlzes the Commlssmn to seek 1nJunct1ve and other |

relief against 'any pers_on whenever it shall app_ear to the Commlssmn that, such persOn has
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‘ engaged' is engaging, or isabout to engage in any act or practice constituting'a violation of
any provision of the Act or any rule regulatlon or order thereunder Section 2(c)(2)(C) of
- the Act 7U.S.C.§ 2(c)(2)(C) (2012) subjects the forex sollcltatlons and transact1ons at issue
~in th1s actlon to, inter alia, Sections 4b and 40 of the Act, 7 U. S C. §§ 6b, 60 (2012) as - )
' further descrlbed below. o
9 Venue lies properly in this Court pursuant to Section 6¢c(e) of the Act,
7 U S C.§ l3a—1(c) (2012) because Defendants transacted bus1ness in this Dlstrlct and
B ‘certaln transactlons acts, practices, and courses of busmess in Vlolatlon of the Act and the
_Regulatlons occurred,-are occurring, or are about to occur in this D1str1ct,‘ amongvother, :
. places.v | | - |
|  IL  THEPARTIES
'10. . Plaintiff Commodity Futures Tr'ad-ing ‘COn’imi‘s’sion is an independent
federal regulatory agency charged by Congress w1th the admmlstratlon and enforcement of"
the Act and the Regulatrons promulgated thereunder The CFTC mamtams its prm01pal
office at Three Lafayette Centre 1155 21st Street NW Washmgton D.C. 20581. i

A - Corporate Defendants

d

(€

‘ 1 1. Defendant Oasns Internatlonal Group, lelted isa Cayman Islands 11m1t

‘ corporatlon formed in March 2013 by DaCorta Amle and Montxe Defendants DaCorta
Anlle, and Montle.are all members of QIG and also serve on.OIG’s Board of Dlrectors.v
DaCorta, Anile, and Montie operate OiG from its o‘fﬁce atv444:‘Gulf of Mer(ico Drive,

. Longboat Key, Florida: During the Relevant Period, OIG 'a’c_ted as a commodity pool
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operator ("‘CPD”) by solicit’ing, -r‘eceiving, and accebting funds from pool participants for’
mvestment in the Oasis Pools. OIG is not reg1stered w1th the Commiss1on in any capa01ty

12. | Defendant Oasns Management LLCisa Wyommg limited llability
corporation formed in November 2011 with its principal place of busmess at 318 McMicken '
Street, Rawlins Wyoming Durmg the Relevant Period, OM acted asa CPO for the Oas1s
Pools by acceptlng and recelvmg funds from pool participants in two bank accounts in OM’s
name at Bank #1for the purpose of investing in the Oasis Pools. oM is not registered w‘ith'
the Commiss1on in any capamty | |

13,. Defendant Satellite Holdmgs Company isa South Dakota corporation
formed in October 2014. Satelllte Hold1ngs s principal place of busmess is 110 East Center
Stre‘et, 'Smte 2053, Madlson, South Dakota-.' Defendant Haas.ls Satelhte Holdin‘gs s"dire’ctor. "
During the RelevantPeriod Satellite Holdiin-gs acted as a CPO for the Oasis onols' by

| sollcltmg, receivmg, and acceptmg funds from pool partlclpants for 1nvestment in the Oas1s

Pools. Satellite Holdings is not reglstered with the Comm1ss1on in any capacltyv |

B. Ind1v1dual Defendants i

14, Defendant Mlchael J. DaCorta isa resrdent of Lakewood Ranch Florlda
DaCorta in 2006 was listed with the Natlonal Futures Assoc1at10n (“NFA”) asa prm01pal and
registered, with the Comm1ss1on as an assoc1ated person (“AP”)_ of areglstered CTA, but he
,’Withd,rew h1s listing and‘registration as part of a 2010 settlement w1th the NFA DaCorta co- -
founded andisa principal shareholder and ‘director of OIG.: He is also' the chief executiye
v ‘ofﬁcer and the chief investment officer of OIG and opened and Wasthe vsole signatory on oM

~ bank accounts. DaCorta was responsible for all OIG’s investment decisions, trading



~Case 8:20- C\GGQEGIZ AMAETBY45 D¢ uMentiFEGM L1 Fidddl 0727209 Pnge??obBB?PagelD 2642
Case 8 19 CV- 00886-VMC SPF Document 110 Filed 06/12/19 Page 7 of 57 Pagel[) 913

executron services, sales clearmg and operatrons and s1gned OIG promlssory notes. Durmg
| the Relevant Perlod DaCorta acted as an AP for CPOs oM. and OIG by SOllCltlI‘lg pool
partrc1pants for 1nvestment in the Oas1s Pools DaCorta is permanently banned from
reg1ster1ng with the Commrssron_ _tn any capa01ty, and is therefore not ‘reg1stered vv1th the
' ComrniSslon. ' | ) | |
15.  Defendant Joseph S. Anile, I1 is a resident of Sarasota FlOrida and
'Lattmgtown New York. An1le co- founded and isa pr1nc1pal shareholder d1reotor and
president of 0IG. Amle had respons1b1l1ty for staffing, gu1dmg, and managmg OIG’s vision,
vm1ss1on strateglc plan and d1rect1on An1le controlled OIG bank accounts. Add1t1onally,
: An1le opened tradmg accounts for the Oas1s Pools Anile ass1sted in famhtatmg real estate
purchases with pool funds and rnakmg _non-fOrex investments w1th ‘pool funds. Amle has |
never -been regjistered wi:th the Commission in any capacity.' | |
16. : Defendant Raymond P. Montie, I11, is a resident of Jackso’ri, New :
:Harnpshvire. MOntle'co-founded'»and is a principal 'shareholder vdirect'or-: an'd vice president of ;
0IG. He was OIG’s execu‘uve dlrector of sales Durmg the Relevant Perlod Mont1e vacted .
as an AP of OIG by sohcrtmg pool partrcrpants for 1nvestment in the Oasis Pools Montle |
has never been reg1stered w1th the Commrss1on in any capacrty
1'7. = Defendant Francns-c‘o “Frank” L Duran isa resrdent of .Florida 'Duran :
' handles the day-to day operat1ons of OIG and generally assrsts DaCorta Wlth OIG’ |
: operat1ons Dur1ng the Relevant Perlod Duran acted as an AP of CPO OIG by sol1c1t1ng |
pool part1c1pants for 1nvestment in the Oasis Pools Duran has never been reg1stered w1th the

Comm1sston in any capacrty.‘
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- 18. Defendant John J. Haas is a resident of New York. Haas»‘is the sole director -
of Satellite H_o"ldi:ngs and opened and was the sole signatory on'Satel‘_lite Holdings bank o
accounts; ‘Ha:a_s ‘sivgned» Satellite ,promiSSory notes. | Haas vvas in charge of assisting pool
| participants 'vvho wished to ‘investtheir retirement ﬁmds 1n the O-as':is Pools. During the
Relevant'Period, Haas acted as an AP for Cf’Os Satellite Holdings and OIG by soliciting pool
participants for investment in the Oasis Pools. Haas has never been registered with the |
Commission in any capaCity. :
C. | Relief Defendants
B 19, Re‘lief}]‘)efendant Mainstr.eam‘Fund Services, Inc. is a New York »
co'rp'oration that is a third-nartv administrato‘r for the financial services inidu‘stry;:‘ During‘the '
' Relc,vant' Period Mainstream held three accounts at Bankv#2 ‘(aCCounts XXXXXX] 174,_
XXXXXX5606 -and XXXXXX0764) that recelved drrectly or 1nd1rectly, over $33 mllhon
from pool partlclpants for 1nvestment in the Oasis Pools These Malnstream accounts have
no legltlmate clalm to pool partlclpants. funds and did not prov1de any serv1ces for the Oa51s
Pools or pool partlclpants The Malnstream Accounts acted as pass-through accounts from
Wthh pool funds were transferred toa forex tradmg account in the United Klngdom orto
“the Defe‘nd‘ants, orto other busmesses.,ovvned or controll_ed by Defendants. Mamstream was
- formerly narned Fundadrninistration Inc. (“Fundadministration”), but changed vits nameto
Mamstream in 2017 |
20. Relief Defendant Bowllng Green Capltal Management LLC (“Bowhng
Green”) i isa New York hmlted hablhty company with an address of 26 Ludlam Avenue,

' Bayv111e New York DOS process for Bowhng Green is Amle Bowling Green has a bank
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account at Bank#3 that received over $2.1 million in poolfunds during the Relevant Period.

- Anile and MaryAnne E Anile (‘fM. Anile”) are the only signatorieson_;»this_.account.

E Bowling Green,hasv no legitimate' claim to pool funds and d1d not pr,o_\'/.ijde any services for the

. Oasis Pools ‘or‘pool participants | | .

- 21, | Rellef Defendant Lagoon Inuestments, Inc. (“Lagoon”) isa South Dakota

corporat1on with its pr1n01pal place of bus1ness at 110 East Center Street Suite 2053,

Madlson South Dakota In May 2015, Anile ﬁled an appl1cat1on for Lagoon to transact

:" _busmess in Flor1da DaCorta and Anile are the sole d1rectors and ofﬁcers of Lagoon

jb»‘Lagoon has a bank account at Bank #4 that received $3l8 038 33 of pool funds durmg the| :

B Relevant Period, and pool funds are the only source of funds in the account Amle and |

o DaCorta are. the sole 51gnator1es on thls account Lagoon has no leg1t1mate clalm to pool

funds and d1d not. provrde any services for the Oa51s Pools or pool partlclpants

| 22 .Rellef Defendant Roar of _the Llon Fltness, LLC (“Roar of t‘he'Liobn”‘),b is a. .

' -Flfor'i'da limlte:d liability cbmp;in.y slocated at 1"33 13 Iiaikyn Point Orlando, Florida.. Andrew

DaCorta (“A DaCorta”) is authorlzed to manage Roar of the L1on Roar of the L1on has al - | ‘

bank account at Bank #l that received over $7 1, 000 of pool funds durmg the Relevant

Per1od and pool funds are the only source of funds in the account DaCorta and A DaCorl a

are the sole s1gnator1es on the account Roar of the L1on has no legltrmate clalm to pool
funds and did not provide anyservices for the Oasis Pools_ or poOI Pal'tlclpantsv,_ a

23._':. | Relief Defendant 444 Culf of Mexico Drlve,' LLC (“444”) 1s :a f‘lorida

l1m1ted l1ab111ty company Wlth its pr1nc1pal place of busmess at 8374 Market Street #421

Bradenton Florlda OIG is author1zed to manage 444. 444 has a bank account at Bank #1|
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that received over $834,000 of pool funds during the Relevant Period, and po:ol funds‘ are the
| only source of funds in the account DaCorta and Anile are;the sole signatories on this |
account Additionally, 444 owns an office bu11d1ng located at 444 Gulf of Mexico Drlve
: Longboat Key, Florida, that was purchased with pool funds 444 has no legrtlmate claim to
pool funds or property purchased with pool funds and drd not prov_1de any servlccs for the ‘
,, | Oasis Pools or pool partrc1pants | ‘
24, Rellef Defendant 4064 Founders Club Drlve, LLC (“4064 Founders Club”)
is a Florida lrm1ted l1ab1l1ty company wrth 1ts pr1n01pal place of bus1ness at 8374 Market
Street Unit 421 Bradenton Florlda An1le 1s the authorrzed representatlve of 4064 Founder_s
Club and the reg1stered agent 4064 F ounders Club has a bank account at Bank #1 that |
-~ received over $59O 000 of pool funds and pool funds are the only source of funds in the :
account. An1le and M. Anlle arethe sole signatories on this account. Add1t10nally, 4064
h Founders Clubvpurchaseda residence with pool funds 1n Which Anile li\‘/’es locatedat 4064
Founders Club Drlve Sarasota Florida. 4064 Founders Club has no legltrmate clarm to pool
: funds or property purchased w1th pool funds and d1d not provrde any services for the Oas1s ﬁ
'Pools or pool part1c1pants | | | |
25 . Relief Defendant 6922 Lacantera Clrcle, LLC (“6922 Lacantera”) isa
Florida lim1ted 11ab1l1ty companywrth 1ts principal place of bu‘srness at 6922 Lacantera
'} ‘Circl'e Lakewood Ranch Florida. ; OM is authorized‘ to manage 6922vLacantera v6922"
'. Lacantera has a bank account at Bank #l that received over $2l2 000 of pool funds, and pool
funds are the only source of funds 1n this account. DaCorta is the sole s1gnatory on the

. account Addltlonally, 6922 Lacantera owns a residence located at 6922 Lacantera Crrcle
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‘ Lakeyvood Ranch, Florida that was ’pur‘chased‘ yvith pool funds. 6922 Lacantera has no

' legi_timate cla_imi to pool i‘funds, or property purchased With pool funds and did not provide' any
- services for the Oas-is Pools or pool participant’s | | ' |

26. | Relief Defendant 13318 Lost Key Place, LLC (“13318 Lost Key”) is a

Florlda limited l1ab111ty company with its pr1nc1pal place of bus1ness at 133 18 Lost Key

Place, Lakewood Ranch, F lorida. OIG is authorlzed to manage 13318 Lost Key 13318 Lost

IR K_ey_has a bank account at Bank #1 that rece1Ved over $265 000 of pool funds ajnd pool -

funds are the only source of funds in th1s account. DaCorta is the sole 51gnatory on this

~ account. Add1t1onally, 13318 Lost Key owns a res1dence located at 13318 Lost Key Place

: Lakewood Ranch, Florlda that was purchased w1th pool funds and in Wthh DaCorta llves

» 133 18 Lost Key has no legltrmate cla1m to pool funds or property purchased W1th pool fun :ls

and d1d not prov1de any services for the Oas1s Pools or pool part1c1pants

27.v' : Rellef Defendant 40aks LLC (“40aks”) isaF lorlda limited. llablllty

company w1th its pr1nc1pal place of bus1ness at 8374 Market Street No 421, Lakewood .

'Ranch Flor1da An1le is authorlzed to manage 40aks 40aks has a bank account at Bank #1

that recelved over $177 000 of pool funds and pool funds are the only source of funds in this -

| account Anile and M Amle are the sole s1gnator1es on th1s account. Add1t10nally, 40aks

owns a Ferran that was purchased with pool funds. ’40aks has 'no leg1t1mate clalm to pool

funds or ‘property p‘urchased Lwith p:o‘olvfunds and did not vproyide' any services for the Oasis

~ Pools or pool participants.“‘ v

10
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v, FACTS
v ; 4A. The Oasis Comnlon Enterprise e
28 v. Defendants operate their fraudulentseherne through the follorvrng interrelated
domestic and fore'_ig_nentities: | | |
D'efendant : Corpora_te: "~ [Rolein Scheme |
Entities Information S
OIG o Ca);man 'I'slands’ | OIG solicits‘va.S. residents and reeeives or accepts

| (2013 - present) | funds from pool participants for the Oasis PoOls_ in
. - | Fundadministration/Mainstream bank accounts. OIG is
‘| owned and directed by DaCorta Anile, and Montie.

oM - Wyommg | OM receives pool partlclpant funds in its name in Bank
(2011 present) ‘#1 bank accounts controlled by DaCorta. These Bank
| #1 bank accounts are controlled by DaCorta

Satelllte : Sodth Dakota Satellrte Holdlngs sollclts U.S. res1dents and receives or

Holdmgs | (October 2014 - | accepts funds for the Oasis Pools in its name in Bank

present) | #1 bank accounts controlled by Haas. Satelhte
- Holdrngs is owned and managed by Haas

| Investment | Corporate | Role in Scheme
"Pools - | Information : '

Oasis = - | New Zealand SOmepool funds were transferred to a forex trading
|.Global FX; | (May 2012 - account in OGFXL’s name at forex firm in the United
Limited June 2015) 'ngdom (“UK Forex F 1rm”) All of the pool funds

| (“OGFXL”) | ’ - | transferred to this account were lost trading forex.

OGFXL is owned by’ OIG and is licensed asa financial
serV1ces provider in New Zealand

QOasis ': Belize = Some pool funds were transferred to a forex trading

| Global FX, | (August 2016- | account in OGFXS’s name at the UK Forex Firm. All.
| S.A. present) | of the pool funds transferred to this account were lost
‘| “OGFXS”) : | trading forex. OGFXS is owned by Anile and is

| licensed as a financial services provider in Belize.

11
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2‘9.- ' Among otherthi'ngs OIG, OM, and' Satellite Holdings share the same ofﬁee
“and employees commmgle funds and operate under one overarchmg name “Oa51s
vAdd1t10nally, DaCorta and/or Anile own and control 0IG, OM, OGFXL and OGFXS. Haas
| owns and controls Satelllte Holdings, but also works for OIG.
. ©30. The Oasis enterprlse appears to operate one common website. During a pat ‘
of the Relevant Per1od the websrte was located at awww. oas1smternatlonalgroupltd com. |
_Accordmg to th1s Webs1te Oasrs prov1des an array of asset management and advxsory
services, including cOrpOrate ﬁnanc.e and investment ’bank’mg .v .. 1nvestment sales/tradmg‘ v
~and elearing s’erviees, c. ﬁnaneialfproduct»development, and alternativéiinvestment :
pro‘ducts.” | | ' | | ’
31 The Oasrs webs1te has a banner prommently dlsplayed across the bottom of| -
- each page wh1ch states | |
- The services and pro_duets offered b)r Oasis Ivntémational;Group Ltd. are not
“ being offered within the United States (US) and [are] not being offered to US:
persons, as defined under US law. As such, should you reside in, or be a
citizen, or a taxpayer of the US or any US territory, any email message N
received is not intended to serve as a solicitation or mducement on behalf of .
any of the aforement1oned ent1t1es - ' :

S 32. Desplte ‘thrs d1’scla1mer, Defendants have solle-ited'hundred:s of UsS. ‘residents,b }: "‘
contlnue to actiirely sollCitU S residents to‘: invest i‘nt}he Oasis iPools, and have a‘ocept?d
funds for the Oas1s Pools from at least 700 U.S. res1dents | N |

) »33.‘ OIG OM and Satelhte Holdings had no pol101es procedures or ﬁnanc1al
c‘ontrols, did‘ not keep regular or accurate books and ,re‘cords, and did not _-prepare regular or|

accurate financial or pool performance statements.

12
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, B - -DaCorta’s Perm'anenvt Registration Ban
| 34; Erom Novembef 2006 to Au;gu$t 2010, DaCo.rta was listea asi a ?rincipal with
' FNFA"a'nd registered with the Commission as ian AP of a CTA called International Currénéy |
L Tradéré, Ltd. (“ICT’_’»),' which foéred fofe-x tfading to U.S. fetail custbmcrs. Da(j’orta Was
IYC‘T’s Président. | | |
| 35 In2009, the NFA—the selferegulatory organizaﬁon desi_gnated bythe
- Commission as a regjsferéd futures éssoCiation—identiﬁedjsev'eral yiolaﬁoné of bNFA rules
i : by ICT. Amo:ng other things, :ﬂvle‘N‘FA'dichSyered that ﬁaCo‘rta and ICT ‘sol‘icited' ‘éofne of -
| their féréx customers td lban;rrfl‘bney.: tﬁICT, and that sorﬁ_e of those full-‘ld_s: were used t6 fnake
pay-'mentsv to‘ forfﬁérv ICT CUStblﬁers With tréding losses in 2007. The cﬁfstOmérs Who lbaned
the ‘m’Qn‘e-y to ICT were not told that their money Would go to other ICT t;ustomers. '

} . 36. In August ZOIOF:DaCorta and the NFA entered into an aéreeﬁeht,wheféby,
DaCorta agr‘eed to withdraw ff;jm- NFA'membership and never to re-api)ly fdr NFA‘ |
‘membership bin any capacity, at any time in the futu_re, to aVQid' an NFA disciplinaryk action -
against h1m a'nci IVCTV. Effec’tivély,ithis mcant DaCorta f‘Was perfnanentls;" baﬁned ‘from o

regi'éteriﬁg w1th the 'Commiss;ibon'a's‘ ‘a CPO, CTA, or as an AP ér princiijai of a CPO or CTA.
R 37. - During the' Réleyaﬁt Péﬁod, Defendants did .ﬁbtvdiSClos‘é’kt‘o pdol pafticipanfs‘ |
itha_lt DaCoﬁa waS'permanently'Bahned %rom registé_ring with th&; Cofﬁmiési,c.iﬁ and could not |
solicit iﬁve'stménts or invest for others in, ‘amoing other things, retail forex.
C.  Defendants’ Unprofifable Trading | »
38. Inor afoun& April 2015, Anile vo,pened‘é iforex _tradih:g,aécoﬁnt at the UK

Forex Broker. The fofex jtradingbac’count‘ was héld« in the name of and for thé beneﬁfi of

13
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| OGFXL, which is a,New Zealand company oWne’d by OIG. DaCorta is the president and
Anile is the vice president"of OGFXL Anile and DaCorta were th;e’”only. signatOries on this
. forex tradmg account and DaCorta was the only person authorized to trade the account. |
Approxrmately $l 65 0,000 was deposrted into the account The account suffered net tradmg v'
losses of apﬁproxrmately $l,65_4,000 and was closed February 7, 2017. |
39.  Inoraround December 20ld, Anile opened another _forex:trading account at |

' the UK Fore)r Broker. Thislforex trading acc-ount was held in the narne of and for the beneﬁt
:of OGF XS a Bel1zean company owned by Amle Anlle 1s the only 51gnatory on the accou.nt,‘j
yet 1ndicated on the account openmg documents that another person would trade the account. .
DaCorta also traded th1s account Between January- 20»17 and November 30,2018, this :

| account recelved dep051ts totaling $19 625 000 As of November 29 201 8 this account had‘;. o
total losses of approx1mately $60 milllon As of November 30 2018 this account remamed
open w1th a balance of approxrmately $750 000

40. Through the UK Forex Broker accounts Defendants engaged in forex

transact1ons on a leveraged or marglned bas1s that d1d not result in del1very within two day_

. :: or otherwlse create an enforceable obligatlon to del1ver between a seller and buyer that have‘
the ability to dellver and accept delivery, respectlvely, in connection W1th their lme of |

: busmess The trades were leveraged 100 1 Wthh means that the Oasrs l’ools could trade

llforex contracts Valued at one hundred times the ar'n’ount o_f cash in the QGFXL 'and OGFXD:

trading accounts. | o

41. Defendants do ,not appear to have traded forex in any Other ac‘counts du_ring- .

~ the Relevant Period. - |

SR
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D

- 42.

: ,Defendants’ Fraudulent Solicitations'. for the Oasis Pools

During the Relevant Perlod Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellrte Holdrngs by

and through DaCorta, Montle Duran and Haas (and/or their other employees or agents), v SO

fraudulently sollcrted and obtained over $75:mlllron from apprOxrmately, 650 pool -

participants as investments in the Oasis Pools. Defendants made material misrepresentations’

and omissions to pool participants and prospective pool participants via the Oasis website,

_group conference calls hosted by Oasis, telephone calls, in-person meetings, and in v

- promissory notes they executed with pool participants. Def‘end‘ants’: fraudulent solicitations, L

as is ill}ustrated by the ’following jrepr'esentat'ive_‘:ex'aniples, ineluded, hut »Were. not limited to,

“representations that:

)
b

)

‘d)

o
D

)

43,

all pool ,funds would be used to trade forex; ~

B pool partrcrpants would receive a minimum 12% guaranteed annual return

from forex tradlng,
the Oasrs Pools were profitable and returned 22% in 2017 and 21% in 2018

the Oasis Pools never had a losmg month;

~ money berng returned to pool partlcrp_ants was from profitable trading;

there 'was-’norisk of loss with the Oasis Pools" and s

o pool partlcrpants could earn extra retums by referrlng other pool partlclpants
to the Oasis Pools :

vIn June 2017 pool participant K M. learned about Oasis from Montre ata

retreat Montie hosted at his house in New Hampshlre for her and others all of whom knew

Montle through Ambrt Energy (“Amblt”) a company with whrch Montie is afﬁllated

Durmg the retreat, Montle told K.M. and others the followmg about the Oa51s Pools

15
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w.

_ whlch Montle and DaCorta made representat1ons about the Oas1s Pools 1nclud1ng

a)
b)

45,

 invested $20,000 in Oasis in 2017 and $37,500 in 2018, some of which was from her Roth

IRA.

6.
Montre who G M knew through Amblt Montle told G. M the followmg
- a)

b

9
d)

j e)

there was little risk of loss associated with the Oasis Pools; and

1D 2652
D923

Montre was makmg a srzable proﬁt on his Oasrs 1nvestment from proﬁtable forex :

trad1ng,

current Oasis pool part1c1pants were maklng between 12% and 25% from Oas1<
forex tradmg, } . : o

there was little risk of loss assocrated with the Oas1s Pools because Oasrs wasa

m1ddleman for forex tradmg, and
pool funds would be vused to trade forex

Between June and July 2017 K M part1c1pated in conference calls durmg
the Oa‘srs:Pools were makmg a guaranteed mlmmum‘of 12% per year;-

pool funds would only be used to trade forex.

, Based on Montie’s and DaCorta’s representations about the Oasis Pools, K.

In or. about October 2017 pool partlcrpant G M. learned about Oas1s throug

Montre had known DaCorta for about six years
DaCorta had turned $25 000 1nto over $31 000 for him i ina few months
the Oa31s Pools were earnmg about 20% per year tradmg forex :

the Oas1s Pools were low r1sk because the forex tradmg was not dependent on
whether the market went up or down; and :

pool funds would only be used to trade forex

': 16
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47 - " In December 201 7, Montie told G.M. that he could earn additional money by L
referrmg others to Oas1s because Oasrs was able to pay a referral fee from its forex trading
: profits. | B
. 48. In late October 201 8, G.M. participated in an Oasis conference call led by
Montie and DétCorta. The following occurred during the call: | - o
. a) Montie"introduced DaCorta and explained how they came to :form OIG;

b) Montie explained that DaCorta turned $25 000 into $3l 000 for Montie in a
 relatively short perlod of time;

h c) DaCorta explained that he worked on Wall Street from a young age'v '

) DaCorta explalned that the 03515 Pools made money tradlng forex by capturmg N
the bld/ask spread A v :

e) DaCorta said the Oasis Pools made a m’inimum 1% monthly return'

) DaCorta sald the only risk as5001ated w1th the Oasis Pools was 1f all the large
banks failed or the dollar collapsed :

@) DaCorta said the only money at risk Was what belonged to Oasis because pool
- funds were just collateral and

h) DaCorta said pool funds would only be used for forex tradlng and made no
mention of pool funds being used to purchase real estate or cars.

4"19, ' In or about August 2018, Montre organlzed a tr1p for G.M. and others to visit -
Oas1s ] ofﬁces on Longboat Key. Montle arranged the trip to get Oas1s pool part1c1pants
ﬁred up about Oa51s and s0 they would refer others to Oasis. Durlng the V1s1t Montle o
DaCorta and others made a presentation about Oas1s durmg which they represented the
followmg
) Oasis‘p had $110 million under managemenu '

,: ~b) Oasis held substantial amounts of cash’and had strong ﬁnancial standing; and -

BT



Case 8:20-c\=0886P: mmmwmumenumm Fﬂdeldlommm Plaggema)oBB?PagelD 2654
Case 8: 19 cv-00886-VMC SPF Document 110 Filed 06/12/19 Page 19 of 57 PageID 925

©)

50

‘ statements and other mformatlon to verrfy the representatronsmade about Oasrs and the |

Oas‘is Pools. : | | | | o
sl

based on Montie’s and DaCorta s representatlons about Oasrs approxrmately $180, 000 of]

wh1ch was from his IRA |

- 52.

, knew Montre and Haas through Ambrt In late 2017, M.B. part1c1pated in an Oas1s .
’conference call led by Mont1e DaCorta and Haas with several other prospect1ve pool

Vpartlc1pants The followmg occurred durmg the call |
| - a) ‘

R and had earned ¢ ‘incredible returns” in only sixty days :

)

g
b

~ for Oasis, Montie handled Oasis’s marketmg, and DaCorta d1d the trading for
Qasis; . , .

the dlfference

| DaCorta stated the Oas1s Pools would probably return 24% in 2017

Oasis purchased real estate, 1nclud1ng the Longboat Key ofﬁce from forex
trading proﬁts

G M. assumed that Mont1e asa pr1nc1pal was rece1v1ng Oasrs ﬁnanc1al
G.M.v inveStedv$500 000 in the Oasis Pools-beginning in NoVember*2017‘

In 2017, Montre sol1c1ted pool part1c1pant M B for the Oas1s Pools M. B

Mont1e 1ntroduced DaCorta as h1s friend and bus‘ineSS partner" '

Montre explamed that DaCorta had invested in forex for him several years. earl1er .

DaCorta stated that An1le handled the legal complrance and adm1n1strat1ve work, }

, DaCorta stated the Oas1s Pools guaranteed a mrnrmum 12% annual return but the
Oasrs Pools had always returned more than 12%;

DaCorta stated if the Oas1s Pools did not make 12% a year Oas1s would make up‘ |

Montie stated the Oas1s p,ools were up 3.6% for the current month;

Montie encouraged c’all participants» to text him any questions;

- 18
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D a call partlcrpant asked if Oasis’s results were audited and Montle responded that
Oasrs wasn ’t audited because it was Just gettmg started;

j) a call part1c1pant asked what the rlsks were with Oasis and DaCorta responded
that the only risk associated with the Oasis Pools was if something happened to
the banking system and that havmg money in the Oasis Pools held the same risk
as holdmg funds at a bank or major brokerage firm; and :

k) DaCorta stated that the rrsk with the Oasis Pools was “farrly mundane compared
to where you are holding positions in stocks, commod1t1es etc.”

53. After the conference call, M.B. had several conversations ‘with Haas in which
Haas reiterated that: l) the Oas1s Pools returned 12% per year; 2) because Oas1s was a-
: market maker the only r1sk was 1f a bankmg crisis occurred and 3) pool part1c1pants funds R
would be 51ttmg at large domestrc and 1nternat10nal 1nvestment banks back1ng forex trades
54. ' Later on or about Aprll 1, 2018 M.B. had a call with Montre to ask follow—up
'quest1ons about Oasis before he sent money to Oa51s The followmg occurred during the
call:
a) M.B. told Montie “I know you, but I don’t know DaCorta and for all [ know
DaCorta is Bernie Madoff” and asked Montie if he’ would have access to M B s
'vmoney after M B 1nvested in the Qasis Pools;
b) "Mont1e responded by Vouchmg for DaCorta and explammg that M.B. could get
- his money out of the Oasis Pools because Montie had access to the Oas1s accounts ,

- and log-ins to the bank accounts and

¢) Montre told M.B. that the worst thing that could happen 1f M.B. 1nvested in the
Oasis Pools is that M B. would only get h1s 1n1t1al investment back

'55. Based on Montie’s, Haas’s, and DaCorta’s representatlons about Oasis,"M.B‘. '
_ 1nvested $110, 000 in Oasis in 2018, 1nclud1ng money from IRAs
56. . In March or Apr1l 201 8, Oas1s pool partlc1pant D.. C leamed about Oas1s

through another -Oas1s poolpart1c1pant.‘ D.J .C. also knew Montie through Amb1t. Around -

19
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that: same time;}D‘_ JC participated in an Oasis conference call with several other prospective

pool participants'during which Haas."andl Montie provrded rinformation about the:Oasis Pools.

Montie and Haas stated the following on the conference :call::
a) Oasis was an inyestment m forex trading; :', o

b) Montie had been investing in forex with DaCorta for several years and his
experience with DaCorta and forex trading led to the creation of Oasis;

c) the Oasis Pools had never lost money;

d) the Oasis pools were returning a guaranteed 1% monthly return from tradmg
forex but returns could be higher

e) the only way the Oa51s Pools Would lose money was 1f the entire economy melted
- down; and : : :

D | pool funds Would only be used to trade forex

: 57.' | D. J C. followed up w1th Montle in the fall of 2018 regardmg Oasis, and |
FMOI’lth orgamzed a call w1th DaCorta On October 26, 2018 Montie DaCorta and D. J C.
‘had a conference call. Montie and DaCorta reiterated what Montie and Haas said on the | |
prior conferen,(:e call in March or April_:2018:, including that Oasis_ had a guarant'e_e.d -
12% annual return, Oasis had n’eyér lost money; itfwould take a si‘gniﬁcant economic global
event for Oas1s to lose money, and pool funds ‘would only be used to trade forex |
' 5 8. | D. J C. mvested a total of $750 000 in the Oasis Pools in October 2018 based
on Montie’s,: Haas’ s, and DaCorta s representations.
59. "In or tabout September 2}018, Oasis pool ‘participant C.M. learned about Oasis
: '_throu_gh some. Ambit colleagues. ‘C.M.‘knew Montie and Haas through Ambit. C‘.'Mb.’
| - »participated’in an Oasis conference call led by Montie and ;I%laas in or v_about October,20il 8 |

| - The following'occurried on thevconferenc,e called:

20
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a) Montie opened the call and eXplained how he and DaCorta became acquainted;

b) Montie stated that the Oasrs Pools had never had a down day and there was a
guaranteed m1n1mum annual return of 12%; :

S ©) Montre stated that the Qasis Pool traded foreX‘ B

d) Haas reiterated that the Oasis Pool made a minimum 12% guaranteed annual
- return and that the Oasis Pools had never had a down day,

e) Haas stated that the Oasis Pools were in and out of forex' trades SO qulckly there
was no I'lSk 1nvolved :

) Haas stated that the only risk to investing with the Oas1s Pools was if the ent1re
~ 'banking system or economy collapsed and

: vg)‘ Haas sa1d pool funds wOuld be used on’ly for forex trading.'
| 60 - 'After the'conferencercall, CM emailed I—Iaas asking 'for _further clariﬁCatiéh ‘,
*—about the risk of loss associated wrththe Oasis Pools and where pool funds were held Haas
: responded [f]unds are just s1tt1ng in an‘account Nothlng to unwmd no. prOJects that went
bad’ noth1ng that has to sell etc The funds can just be‘ all sent ba‘ck at once to e‘veryone if
: “need be.” | | |
6. A few Week's'later, CM. 'participated in anothe'r Oasis‘ con‘iferen,cecall led by -
Montie and l)acorta. Montie 'stated that'the Oasis vPools,’, g'uaranteed am1n1mum 12% a_n‘nu:al‘,
© return. 'Da(iorfta stated that the Qasis ?ools uSUally made’ more than 1 2% a };ear and stated‘
that -the only ri,jsl{'a’ssociated with the‘ Oasis Pools was if the entire’,‘banking systern collapsed; -.‘
| 6. CM. invested $‘6_6,0'00 in the VOasis Pools in 2018 based on representations by "‘
Montie, Haas, and DaCorta. ‘ ‘ -
63.  In20 18, Montie'spearheaded a contest amongst Oasis salespeople to get -

$20 million invested in the Oasis Pools by the end of 2018. As part of the contest, Montie -
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held a conference with Oasis .salespeople on October 30,2018, The following occur'red'-on
the call-;

a) Montre stated the Oasrs Pools had taken in more than $11 mllllon but Montle
wanted $9 mllllon more

b) ‘Montle stated the Oa51s Pools were gomg to finish October between 1.2% and

- 1.4%, there was potential for a big November, and December was projected to
finish at 1.5%, which should get everyone excited for the contest and the Oas1s
“Pools; :

- ©) Montle stated he wanted everyone to use December ] prOJected returns of 1.5%to
talk to people who were on the fence about the Oasrs Pools and get them off the,
~ fence; : '

wn

o d) Montie stated the contest prlzes 1ncluded a ﬁshmg tr1p in Loulsrana and if Oas
~~ brought in enough money, Oasis would reimburse salespeople for their alrfare to
. and hotels in Sarasota for the Oasrs holiday party in December '

- e) Montie stated he Wanted to crank up the conference calls Oasrs ‘was hostmg for|’
~ . prospective pool participants, DaCorta was commltted to domg one conference,
call a week, and Montie, Haas, and others were commltted to domg four to five
conference calls a week '
B f) ' Haas stated he had sent emarls to everyone on his distribution list about Oasis
~ making 1.5% in December which generated a lot of ex01tement and mterest in the
vOa51s Pools and : : :
V g2 Montle stated that the Oa51s Pools were north of 17% for the year, closrng inona
‘ guaranteed 20% for 2018 and everyone should keep these returns in mrnd as th ley
R } SOllClted prospectlve pool partlcrpants ' : o '
64'. In early J anuary 2019 Defendant Montie partlclpated ina call w1th
_ prospective'pool part1c1pant L.T. and ‘hlS lnvest_ment advrsor D.'S;. Durlng the call the
folloWing oCcurred' ‘

a) Montie explained that Oasis was a prlvately held company in the Cayman Islands
that mvested in forex v o

2
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b)

2

65.

Montle sald that Oasis divided the returns it earned tradmg forex with pool .

participants who loaned Oasis money and that interest was dep031ted into pool
»part1c1pants accounts on a daily basrs '

Mont1e said that any pool ‘participant who brought other pool participants 1nto
Oasis would receive a portlon of the interest their referral earned from the Oas1s
Pools; e :

Montie sard that Oasis had never had a down day tradmg forex and portrayed
Oasis as “no risk;” , o o

Montie said there was no income, Or net worth requirements, for investing in Oasis;

D.S. asked Montle how Oasis would calculate L.T.’s minimum IRA d1str1but1on
and whether Oasis would be i issuing year-end tax reporting statements, as these
were critical pieces of information for L.T. and required by the IRS, to which
Montle responded that he was not familiar with these requirements and

in reviewing sample Oas1s account statements wrth Montie, D.S. remarked that
Oasis’s returns were incredible and inquired why other large players in the forex
market such as large investment banks were not able to produce the returns Oasis
generated, to which Montie responded that Oasis was working a $4-7 trillion
currency market and wanted to share this w1th other people :

On January 24 2019 Oas1s Pool Partlclpants C. B and L.B, a couple from

- Northport, F lorlda who mvested their IRA and life savmgs 1n the Oasrs Pools based on

' representatlons made by Defendant Montie ‘met W1th a person they bel1eved to be a

prospecttve pool part1c1p,ant (“Prospectlve Pool Part1c1pant #1”) and shared the1r experiences

with Oasxs C. B and L.B. told Prospective Pool Partlclpant #1 that Defendant Montie told

the couple the followmg

2)
b)

c)

the Oasis Pools were inv'esting‘in forex;
pOOl participants would receive a minimum return of 12% per year;

pool part1clpants would earn an add1t1onal 25% of the returns of : any. pool
part101pant they referred to Oasis; - :
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d)
. participant who recently invested a large sum in the Oasis Pools, so the couple

g)

66.
Pool Partlcrpant #1. Prospectlve Pool Partlclpant #1 told Montie he was 1nterested in

investing 1n the Oa51s Pools In response Montle stated the followmg
| ,a) o
b

a0

Moritie, as a favor, would allow the couple to get referral fees from a pool -

would earn add1t1onal 1nterest based on thls referral

: DaCorta traded forex for the Oasis Pools and was the brains of the operation;,“

_ the only time the OasisﬁPools lost money was about seven years ago when the.
: Oasis Pools were just getting started and only Montie’s money was lost; and -

even though pool pamcrpants are called lenders they are really mvestors

'in seven years Oasis has grown to haV1ng $130 mllllon under management
the Oa31s Pools earned a 22% return in 2017 and a 21% return 1n 201 8

’ vthe Oasis Pools average al% monthly return and have never had a losing
o month . SR

’the Oas1s*Pools are a lot less risky than the stoek‘market' '

pool participants’ funds are used only to tradeforex.

D 931

OnlJ anuary 25, 2019 Defendant Montie had a telephone call Wrth Prospectwe

-~ Montie started Oas1s about elght years ago after meetmg Defendant DaCort;a |
in Poughkeepsw New York; ‘

Montle gave DaCorta $25 000 to trade in October 2011 and w1th1n

approximately seventy days DaCorta had tumed it into $37 000 tradmg fore

in January 2012, Montre brought in some fr1ends and famlly and DaCorta
started tradlng therr money (approx1mately $81 OOO)

Montie had all of his friends and famrly 1nvolved in the Oas1s Pools and the
were doing extremely well; and

24
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67.  On January 30, 2019, Defendant Duran met with Prospective Pool Participant
#1 at Oasis’s_ offices in Longboat Key. Pro‘spectlye Pool Participant #1 indicated he was _
interested in investing in the Oasis Pools. In response, Duran stated the following;

a) the Oasis Pools would return a minimum of 12% per year;

'b) - when the Oasis Pools made more than 12% a year, Oasis paid 25% of these
additional returns back to pool participants and 75% of these additional
returns went “to the house” to pay OIG’s expenses, fees, salaries, referral fees,
and to purchase real estate;

c) .the Oasis Pools madeia 21% return in2018;
d) the Oasis Pools had $100 million under management'
ve) - the Oa31s Pools’ trading platform could not lose money unless there was a . |
* bigger problem in the financial markets and people were going to
,supermarkets w1th shotguns C

f)  Duran mvested in the Oasis Pools, has been helpmg DaCorta Wlth the day-to-
day operations of OIG because he wants to be close to his money, and has :
been gettmg money W1red to his accounts every day at 7:30 p m:; ’

g)  DaCorta was the head trader for the Oasis Pools and Oasis traded forex
- twenty-four hours a day, five days a week Wlth Oasis traders working three

L 'sh1fts and

~h)  0OIG purchased OIG’s ofﬁce and personal res1dences for Defendants DaCorta, |
o An1le and Duran i - , ,

68. ~ On February’ 20, 2‘0l‘9, Defendant Duran sent f’rospective .EP“oo‘l Faﬁicipant #l
an email from fduran@oasi‘sigf.com entitled “Fw: 'wirevinstruc'tions.pdf.”! Th'e email states |
that funds should be wired to aecount XXXXXX0764 at Bank #2. The benefl'c_iary was
‘ designated as Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund S‘ervices, Inc., with a,reference'to “fbo |

Oasis International Group, Ltd.”
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69 B That vsame day, Duran sentProspeetive_ Pool Participant #1 another email from
fduran@oasisig.‘com', attaching ia‘“sample promisso“r’y-‘note. The attachment is entitled‘
“PRQMISSORY NOTE AND EOAN AGREEMENT” and the makerof ‘the note is “Oasis
' lnternational Group, Ltd;” The: note states that payee would receive the -greate‘r of lnterest |
calculated at 12% per year or 25% of the T‘ranSactionF ees, which Were_deﬁned asv“the fees
charged by OIG upon the Loan AmOunt in its Ordinary course of busine:ss through a |
proprietary trading account” .of OIG. The Promissory Note‘is sibgned by Defendant DaCorta
“as CEO of OIG. The note is dated June 29, 2018.

70. © On March 7, 201 9 Defendant Duran met with Prospective Pool Partrc1pant #1
at Oasis’s offices in Longboat Key. Prospectwe Pool Participant #1 explamed he, was

- interested in investing a large sum in the Oasis Pools. In re‘sponse‘, Defendant Duran stated

~ the following'
a) when pool part101pants invest money in the Oasis Pools thelr funds wrll be “at
play trading forex 1mmed1ately,
b) vthe Oas1s Pools pa1d a mrmmum 12% annual return from forex tradlng, but
‘ ’ pool participants could earn extra if the Oas1s Pools made a higher return
~ trading forex; '
c) the Oasis Pools made a 21% return tradmg forex in 2018 and all pool '
partlclpants earned more than 12% in 2018 :
d) . the Oasis Pools have never had a los1ng year and pool partlclpants could
~ never lose money tradmg in the Oasis Pools
€) ,‘ pool part1c1pants have the option to withdraw their trading proﬁts 1mmed1ately
‘or the profits automatlcally get rolled into their pr1n01pal investment;
f) the Oasis Pools” tradlng returns were W1red to pool partrclpants at 7 30 p.m.

' dally, Monday through Friday;
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2) pool participants are called lenders to av01d 1nvestment in the Oasis Pools
belng called a security; : :

“h) DaCorta was not earning a big salary from Oasxs or the Oa51s Pools because
he makes what he trades and we all eat from the same pot;”

i) all Oasis fees and expenses are pa’id from the Oasxs»“house ‘side and not from
' pool participants’ investments in'the Oasis Pools; andv

) pool part1c1pants funds would be used only to trade forex and would not be
' used to invest in real estate, though $15 to $16 million of real estate owned by
Oasis is collateral for the pool participants” promissory notes. -
71 . That same:day, Duran sent’Prospective PoOl Participant #1 an' email from
fduran@oa5151g com with a link to open an account at OIG located at the web address :
‘, https://www. oas1srgltd com. When Prospective Pool Particlpant #1 clicked on the llnk there '
‘were two documents to review and approve a “Promlssory Note and Loan Agreement” and
“Agreement and Risk Disclosures * The “Agreement and RlSl( Disclosures document -

, ,stated, among other thlngS'

a) 0IG prov1ded no collateral to the Lender in connection w1th any money
loaned to OIG; : '

_ b) L OIG could use the funds loaned to it by pool partlcrpants for any purpose
B Whatsoever and could transfer the funds to other OIG accounts and

c) 0IG could 1nvest money loaned to it by the pool participant in forex or spot L
. metal trading, which the Agreement and Risk Disclosures noted is hrghly
speculative and suitable for only certain investors.
- 72 ,On March 22, 2019, Defendant Duran had a telephone call wrth Prospective
~Pool Participant #1, who indicated he was concerned about the “Agreement,and Risk
v Disclosures”. document. Duran responded to Prospective Pool _Participant #1’s concerns

about the “Agreement and Risk Disclosures” document by assuring him that:
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o

| 73

. false::bec'ause, as descrlbed further below,.Defendants:did‘not use all of pool }participants;? |
. fundsto eng‘age in fore')i(tradivng,and instead .mi’s‘appropriatedb the majorlty ofpool. funds; o
‘o’vier $47 million;;to make Ponzipayments andfor unauthorlzed personal and busvi‘nesss :

. :eXpenses, including‘_realestate and luXury car purchaSes, tultion -paymen‘ts; and investment
ln ,ot‘her‘,‘ no'n-forexl business _.ventures. | ‘} ‘ H i -
. ‘ v

-~ false. | DaCorta lost all of the pool funds depos1ted 1nto the Oa51s Pools forex accounts

v through poor tradmg The Oa31s Pools actual tradlng retums in 2017 Were not 22%, but

‘his funds could never depreciate'

" he would receive a guaranteed 12% annual return even if the Oa81s Pools di

- OIG purchased real estate and prec1ous metals to shore up 1ts strength and
. protect 1nvestors : . .

’Defendants’ repres'entatiOns about the proﬁtability of the Oasis Pools were

the document was not binding and by clicking “agree” he was only:
acknowledging that he read the document; ’ “

his funds would only be invested in forex;

his funds 'would not be used to purchase real estate;

not earn that much because OIG makes up the dlfference
pool part1c1pants’ returns were from forex tr-admg proﬁts;
metal from “house” money, which was 75% of any returns the Oasis Pools

made aboV‘e 1’2%;

OIG owned enough gold that even if the economy turned down no one w01
miss a beat and

o o Duran ] mvestment in the Oasis Pools wh1ch he made over two years ago,

" was domg very Well

~ Defendants DaCorta 's, Montie’s, Duran’s, and Haas’s representations were| -
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negative 45%. The Oasis Pools actual tradmg returns 1n 2018 were not 21%, but negative
o , : . .
75 v Defendants™ representations regarding‘ therisk assoc‘i'ated‘. with the Oasis Pools
" were false. vInvestment in the Oa’sis Pools was not riskless. The forex trades in the Oasis
aCcountshad a 100:1 leverage ratio and carried a high degree of risk. Tn fact, the Oasis:Pools .'
could rapidly lose all the fun'ds deposited ihto the forex aCcounts and lose more than What
: was initially deposited ' |
- 76. Defendants’ representat1ons about Oasis havmg over $100 milhon under
o management were false Although Defendants may have received as much as $100 mlllion
: ‘from pool participants durmg the life of the scheme Very little of those funds were actively E
traded by DaCorta and even those funds that were traded were lost by DaCorta |

| :77. Defendants statements that pool partlclpants 1nvestments Were backed-upv by
$15 to $16 milllon in real estate owned by OIG Were false because OIG d1d not own $15 to
$16 milllon in real estate. o '

78 - DaCorta m‘ade:‘ knowing mate-rial misrepresentations_ and ‘omissions about his “ - c
vtrading history,"the.Oasis P'ool's.’f: profitability,’ the risk of loss associated with'the Oasis Pools ?'
and forex tradlng, that pool funds would be used only to trade forex and that Oasis had $12O “

- million under management because as discussed below, he knew he was subJect to an NF A
. ban, losmg money tradmg forex, and m1sappropr1at1ng pool funds. |

- 79. | , ‘ It was highly unreasonable for Montie, Haas, and Duran to represent that the |

Oasis Pools made a minimum 12% return With little to no risk When they knew (jasis’_s :

trading results were not audited, and they did not verify the legitimacy of these claims.
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80. It was highly unreasonable for Montie, Haas, and Duran to represent and to
- .‘»macquiesce to DaCorta’s s and others representations that the Oas1s Pools and trading forex
' vhad limited risk because trading forex leveraged at l00:l is risky; and Montie,_ Haas, and
Duran did not verlfy the legltlmacy‘of th1s claim g L
81 .‘ It was highly unreasonable for Montie to acqu1esce to staternents DaCorta
‘niade 1n his presence that -1nvest1ng in the Oas1s Pools was as safe as havmg money in a bank .
account because trading forex leveraged at 100:1 is far rnore risky than havfing money in an
~insured bank account, and Montie did not Verify the legitimacy of this claim..
- 82. *Montie and Duran knowmgly misrepresented or \i\iere highly unreasonable in 3
representing that pool funds uvere being invested onl}_i in forex w’hen:they‘knew that Oasrs |
'vt/as making non—f:orexinvestments and theivy did not 'Verify that »Oasis"s non-forex -
investments were made ‘withv trading proﬁts ‘- |
83. Haas knowingly misrepresente'd that pool funds Wer_e“ be‘ing’invested only in
forex becauSe, as deScribed below, H‘aaswas‘ rnisappropriating ‘p‘oolfunds from Satellite n '
| Holdings acCOunts. | B |
v84. It Was highlyzunreaSO.nable fOr. ‘l‘\/lo'ntie, Haas, ‘and' Duranv'to represent ‘that
, Oasis and 1ts p:rincipals were trustworthy and ﬂnancially successful viihen neither Oas1s
Managenient nor OIG kept. regular books and reCords or i)repared ﬁnancial 'statements‘
” 85.‘ Duran made knowmg misrepresentatlons that he mvested in the Oasis Pools

and was watching h1s money grow because Duran never mvested in the Oasrs Pools

:3'0=>:
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86; Montie knowmgly mlsrepresented that he could get a pool participant S funds
out of Oa51s because he had log -ins to the Oasis bank accounts when he ‘was not a 31gnatory
to and dld not have log ins to any Oa51s bank accounts. |
: 87. Itwas hlghly unreasonable for Montie to solicit oth‘ers‘, to invest their IRAs 1n .
the Oasis fPoois when he was unaware of IRS requirements for'IRAs. | |
- 88. It was highly unreason‘able for Montie, Haas, and Duran to solicit U.S. |
“ : residents for the Oasis Y}Po’ols when they knew that QIG’s yt/ebsite states that‘ QIG vtlas noft
offering services or products to US persons. ' iE |
| 89 Defendants mlsrepresentatlons and omlssmns to pool partrcrpants operated as
S a fraud on pool partlclpants
' 90 In 'soliciting pool participants for the Oasis Po'ols ‘Defendants :rnade no
. ‘attempt to determine if they were eligible - contract participants (“ECPs ) as deﬁned 'in
Section 1a(18) of the Act 7 U S.C. § la(18) (2012)—i.e., 1nd1v1duals w1th $10 000 000
1nvested ona dlscretionary basrs—and upon 1nformatlon and belief many, if not all of the
' pool partlcipants are not ECPs , |
E. Mlsappropnatlon of Pool Funds
'- : 91 Durmg the Relevant Perlod pool particlpants sent checks and w1red ‘funds for

inv'e.stm_ents in the,O‘a51s Pools to one or more of the following bank accounts; '

Acco‘unv‘t' — T Pool Funds Received
"OM Accounts at Bank #1 T [ $24,208,396.74
(as of February 28, 2019) o :

| Satellite Holdings Accounts at Bank #1 $14,373,770.‘83 i

| (as of March 8, 2019)
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Account | Pool Funds Received

Fundadministration/Mainstream Accounts at | $36,534,648.64
Bank #1 and Bank #5 ‘ ' - :

| (as of March 8, 2019) C o o
Total Pool Funds Recelved - $75,116,816.21

92. D}aCorta controlledvand was the signatory on OM Accounts, Haas;controlled -

- and was the Signatory on the S_atellite Holdings Accounts; and Anile controll'ed the
.‘anadrninistration/Malnstrearn Accounts.

| 93 | lnstead of using' all ‘or suostantially all of pool participants’ funds for forex -_

,tradmg, as promlsed Defendants DaCorta Anile, and Haas knowmgly mrsapproprlated the

maj orrty of pool partlclpants funds from the oM, Mamstream/Fundadmlmstratlon and

S_atelhte Holdmgs accounts as follows:

Use of Pool Funds [ Amount

Ponzi Payments "['$28,944,355.27

| Real estate purchases and maintenance or improvements - |:$7,803,932.04
to real estate including, but not limited to, the Oasis ofﬁce P
building and residences for Defendants DaCorta, Anile,
- | and Duran. - This category includes transfers to Relief

| Defendants 444 Gulf of Mexico, 4064 Founders Club
6922 Lacantera, and 13318 Lost Key Place. - . , ,.
Personal expenses, including but not limited to, prlvate | $6,981,839.06
plane charters, exotic vacations, sports tickets, pet - Coe
supplies, loans to famrly members and college and study
abroad tuition. - . S
Non-forex busmess expenses and bus1ness ventures 1 $3,332,861.44
owned by Defendants, including but not limited to, = ’
transfers to Relief Defendants Bowlmg Green Roar of the .
Lion, Lagoon and 40aks
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Use of Pool Funds o S o Amount

- Vehlcle purchases 1nclud1ng a Maserati and Land Rover $l 11,463. 82
for DaCorta 7 :

Total ' ) $47,174,451.63

9. Dacorta’s Anile’s, and Haas’s misappropriation of pool funds operated asa-
:fraud on pool part1c1pants | | | |
' 95. As of February 28,2019, only approxrmately $7.1 mlllron remarned in the |
Mainstream Accounts $2.7 mrlhon remained in the OM accounts, and $24O 000 remained i in
: the Satelhte Holdlngs accounts. ‘, | o |
| YF. False Account Stat'e’ment’s to.Pool Participants “ o
96. Throughout the Relevant Perlod pool partlcrpants had access to onlme
'account statements generated by 0IG at Defendant DaCorta S d1rect10n Pool part101pants
accessed their account statements in the “back ofﬁce sectlon of the Oasis websrte |
97. These account statements purport to prov1de among other thlngs (l) the pool
part1c1pants balance at the begmnmg of each month (2) pool partlc1pants dally returns |
i eamed,m an amount totalmgvl% per month, yvhlch purports to reﬂect the amount of i 1n_terest
) pool participants were earning each day frorn the Oasis Pools; (3)‘ poo,l participants’ ‘daily‘ » '
special interest returns at 25% of transaction fees which vpurports:to reﬂect the amount‘ of
‘extra interest pool partlclpants were earning each day from either referral arrangements or the
vOas1s Pools’ generatlng more than the guaranteed 12% annual return; and (4) pool |

NS

partlc1pants addltlonal loans which purports to reﬂect returns that were eamed but not

,Wlthdrawn and therefore rolled into.the pool part1c1pants’ “pr1nc1pal B
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- 98. These account statements were false because the Oasis -Poolsvvere losing
money Thus, any retums or mcreased prmcipal reﬂected on pool partlclpants account
- statements whrch were purportedly based on forex tradmg in the Oa31s Pools were a
vcomplete ﬁction. | | |
| - 99. . These false account statements concealed the Oasis“Pools"v trading losses and
i Defendants’ misappropriation of pool funds and operated as affraud on'pool participants.
100. _DaCorta knew these acc_ount statements werefalse because he knew the Oasis |
Pools were not proﬁtable and that pool funds:ih‘ad vbeen misap,propriated;
e uefendahts' Failed To Regigter with the cdmmissioh |
lOl | Durmg the Relevant Perrod Defendants OIG OM and Satellite Holdmgs by
and through their officers, employees or agents used the: malls electromc malls wire |
vtransfers websrtes and other means or 1nstrumenta11t1es of i mterstate commerce to soliclt
pool partlcrpants and:prospective pool partlcipajnts and to recelve property from pool B
particip,antsi - | | B
- ,vl(:)_2‘ , During the Relevant Perlod OIG OM, and Satellrte Holdmgs acted as. CPOs :
- of the Oasrs Pools because they were entltres engaglng ina busmess that is of the nature of a,
B vcommodlty pool and m connectlon w1th that business, sohcited and/or accepted pool funds
fora pooled 1nvestment vehlcle that is not an ECP and that engages in transactions described
in Sectlon 2(c)(2)(C) of the Act, 7 U. S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C) (2012) other than on or subject to the
‘rules of a desrgnated contract market (“retail forex transactrons”). - | |
103, Durmg the Relevant Perrod,,OlG, OM, and Satellite Holdings ‘wer‘e not -, |

statutorily exempt or excluded from re;gistration as CPOs. Moreover, OIG, OM, and Satellite
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Holdi‘ngs never ﬁled any electronic or written notice with the NFA that they were exempt or
: excluded from regrstratron as CPOs as requ1red by Regula’uons 4. 5(c) and 4. 13(b)(l)
lO{l. Durmg the Relevant Per1od OIG, OM and Satellite Holdmgs were never -
” reglstered wrth the Comm1ssron as CPOs ‘ |
105. Durrng the Relevant Perrod, DaCorta, Montie, Duran, and Haas acted as APs
of CPOs because they sovl‘i‘cited funds or property for particlpation ina pooled investrnent
, 'ye‘hicle that is not an ECP and that engages in retail forex transactions. . |
106. Durlng vthe Relevant Period, DaCorta, Montie,v Duran, lan‘d Haas were never
registe‘red wlth the ‘CommissiOn as APs of CPOs |
: H ‘ Recelpt and Commmglmg of Pool Funds
B 10‘7:. Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellite Holdmgs Wh11e actrng as’ CPOs of the ‘
Oasrs Pools received pool funds that were not in the name of the Oasrs Pools and
| . commmgled pool funds with non-pool property by depos1t1ng pool funds into the bank
“accounts of OM, Satelhte Holdmgs 'Fundadmmlstratlon ‘and Mamstream, rather than
“ separate bank accounts specrﬁcally desrgnated for the Oas1s Pools 7
108 : Wh1le acting as CPOs of the Oasis. Pools Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellrte
'Holdlngs comm1ngled pool | funds w1th non-pool property by transferrrng pool funds from the »
“OM, Satellite Holdlngs-, Fundadmmlstratmn, and Mamstream bank accounts into other |

o accounts holding non-pool funds.
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L Failure To Provide Pool Disclosures' and Other Relevant Documents -
} 109 :‘ At ornear the time of .i‘nvestment,v-Defendants provided potential pool_ N
- participants with a document titled “Agreement and RlSk Disclo_sures,.” along\»;vith a |
“Promlssory Note and Loan Agreement s | | |
110. The Agreement and Risk D1sclosures purported to alert 1nvestors to the risks
associated Wlth 1nvest1ng in forex but at the same time, the Prom1ssory Note and Loan
- Agreement guarantees pool participants a 12% annual return_.i‘ |
111.- iDe’fen'dants’ :Agreement and Rlsk DiscIOSures d1d not include the requir’ed
Cautionary state_ment to inVestor_sk or a‘full and complete risltt.dl‘sclosure, i:ncluding:the ri's»ks s
v'inv‘olved in fo‘reign futures contracts and re%ta:i’ll forex trading._b . |
112. ~In addition to Defendantsl»'inadeduate cautionary‘ statements and'risk:
' disCIOSures Defendants also :failed to pfoV'ide pool partlcipants with additional required
1nformat10n 1nclud1ng but not l1m1ted to the fees and expenses 1ncurred by the Oasrs Pools, '
~ past performance drsclosures and a statement that the CPOis requrred to prov1de all pool
partlc1pants W1th monthly or quarterly account statements as well as an annual report L
' '7 contammg ﬁnan(:lal statements cert1ﬁed by an 1ndependent publrc accountant - ‘. E
Jo | Controllmg Person Llablllty » | |
~113. During the Relevant Period, DaCorta was a controllmg person of OIG He co-
founded and was a prmmpal shareholder drrector pres1dent chref executrve ofﬁcer and
ch1ef 1nvestment ofﬁcer of OIG DaCorta signed promissory notes prov1ded to pool
‘ part1c1pants guaranteemg a mmlmum 12% return from the Oasis Pools. Accordingto OIG’s

website, DaCorta is responsible for all investment decisions, trading execution, services, |
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sales, ’clearing and operations of OIG DaCorta did not act in :good faith or knoWingly ’ N
induced QlG’S frauduleﬁt acts',':'- | | | B
114, During the Rel‘eVant Period, DaCorta Was also a controlli}ng person forvv OM.
He opened bankaccount_s for OM 1n November 20ll and -is the sole signatory on these
accounts. DaCorta did not act in good faith or knowinngI induced OM’s fraudulent acts.
| 1 l5 . During the Relevant Period, Defendant Anile was a controlling person of |
OIG. He co-founded and was a principal shareholder, ,direotor, and" president of OIG‘."
.‘According to .Oas‘i's’szvuebsite -Anile has responsibil.ity for stafﬁnvg'», guiding, and managing
| OIG’s vision, m1s51on strateg1c plan and dlrectron Add1t1onally, An1le opened tradmg |
, baccounts for the 0as1s Pools and controlled OIG bank accounts Anile as51sted in facrhtatmg :
real estate purchases with pool funds and >1n dlv.ertmg pool funds from 0IG to other- busmess
entities and Relief De‘fendants. Anile did not act in good .faith or_knowingly induoed o’rG"g
fraudulent acts. ; : o N |
1 16. l)urlng the Relevant Per1od Defendant Montle was a controllmg person of
OIG. He co- founded and was an OIG pr1n01pal shareholder d1rector and vice pres1dent He :
‘was OIG’s executlve dlrectOr of sales Montle soltc1ts prOSpectlve pool partrclpants and
1ntroduces them to OIG and/or DaCorta Montle did not act in good fa1th or knowmgly
: 1nduced OIG’s fraudulent acts. } -
| 117. Throughout the Relevant Period, Defendant Haas was a controllmg person of
| Defendant Satellite: Holdmgs Haas is the d1rector of Satell1te and he opened and was the
sole sfgnatory on bank accountsvln the nam:e of Satelllte Holdmgs, Wh1ch :recerved funds from :

' poolv participants.. Haas Was in charge of 'a‘ssisting» pool participants who wished to invest
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 their IRAs and/or retirement funds in the Oasis Pools. He signed promissory notes

guaranteeing pool participants a 12% annual return from the Oasis Pools. Haas did not ac

good faith or knowingly ,i'ndli‘ced Satellite Holding’s fraudulent act}s".‘

V.

Violations of Sectlon 4b(a)(2)(A)- (C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A) (C) (2012) and

118.

119.

VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT AND |

- COMMISSION REGULATIONS

COUNT ONE

Regulation 5.2(b), 17 C.E.R. § 5.2(b) (2018)

(Forex Fraud by Mlsrepresentatlons, Omissions,

- False Statements, and Misappropriation)

} (All Defendanfs)

-Paragraphs 1 through 117 are reallegediand incorporated herein by reference.
| Section 4b(a)(2)(A)-(C) of the Act makes it unlawful:

- for any person, in or in connection with any order to
make or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity
for future dellvery, or swap, that is made, or to be made, for or

~ on behalf of, or with, any other person, other than on or
subject to the rules of a designated contract market '

(A to cheat or defraud or attempt to Cheati or defraud -
- the other person; 5

(B) willfully to make or cause to be made to the other
person any false report or statement or willfully to enter -

or cause to be entered for the other person any false
record;

(C) willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive thef other
person by any means whatsoever in regard to any order or
contract or the disposition or execution of any order or

contract, or in regard to any act of agency performed with

respect to any order or contract for or, in the case of
paragraph (2), with the other person[ ]

7US8.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A)-(C) (2012) (emphasis added).
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120. | Sectlon la(18)(A)(x1) of the Act, 7U.S. C § 1a(18)(A)(x1) (2012) defines an
ECP‘ (ehglble contract partlcrpant) in relevant part as an 1nd1v1dual who has amounts o
mvested ona drscretronary basrs the aggregate of whlch exceeds $10 million, or $5 million
if the 1nd1v1dual enters into the transaction to manage the rrsk associated with an asset owned
- o'r. liability mcurred, or reasonably l1kely to be owned or mcurred, by the individual. 7 U.S.C.
§ la‘(i l7)> defines an eligible commerclal entity, or ECE, as an ECP that meets certai_n
| ~ additional requirements both ﬁn'ancially and inv its business dealings |
12-_1. Pursuant to Sectlon 2(c)(2)(C)(1v) of the Act 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C)(1v) (2012), : :
: Sectron 4bbof the Act applles to the forex transactlons descrlbed herem as 1f ’ they werea
: 'contract of sale of a commodlty for future dehvery |
| : 1,22. '.: Regulatron 5 2(b) prov1des in relevant part that
i ~[i]t shall be'unlawful for any person, by use of the m'ails or by
any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly
or - 1nd1rectly, in or in connectron with any retail forex

- transaction:

(1) To cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud'
any person : :

2) erlfully to make or cause to be made to any’-‘
person any false report or statement or cause to be
entered for any person any false record; or '

3) Wlllfully to dece1ve or attempt to deceive any o |
person by any means Whatsoever

17 C.F.R. § 5. 2(b) (2018)
l>23. By reason of the conduct descrrbed above, Defendants OIG, OM and Satelllte

~ Holdings (actmg as a common enterprrse), by and through their ofﬁcers, employees and
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' agents and Defendants DaCorta Anile Montie, Duran and Haas in cOnnection withvretail
,forex transactlons knowmgly or recklessly (l) cheated or defrauded or attempted to cheaf B
or defraud pool partlclpants and 2) decelved or attempted to decelve pool partlclpants by
_ .any vmeans. | o |
: : l24-. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants OIG OM and Satelllte Holdlngs
' '(actmg as a. common enterprlse) by and through their ofﬁcers employees and agents and
Defendants DaCorta, Amle ‘Montie, Duran and Haas violated 7 U.S. C § 6b(a)(2)(A) and
(C) and 17 CF. R § 5.2(b)(1) and (3) A |
- 125. By reason of the conduct descrlbed above Defendants OIG OM and Satelllte
o vi Holdlngs (actlng as-a common enterprlse), by and through thelr ofﬁcers employees and
‘ C agents and_Defendant Da—Cvorta knowmgly or recklessly made or caused to be made false ,
R account statements,. | | | |
126. By reason‘of the foregOi:ngé :Defendants OIG, oM, andea}tellite Holdings |-
(acting as a common enterprise) by an’d thrOugh their officers employees ,and'ag‘ent_s and

Defendant DaCorta Vlolated 7 U. S C § 6b(a)(2)(B) and 17 C F. R § 5 2(b)(2)

o

| 127. The foregomg acts omissions, and fallures occurred w1th1n the scope of the

B 1nd1v1dual defendants employment or- ofﬁce w1th OIG OM and/or Satelhte Holdmgs
(actmg asa common enterprlse) Therefore OIG OM and Satelllte Holdmgs are liable for '

| their acts, omissions, and fallures in Vlolatron of 7 U S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(A) (C) and 17 CFR.
- § 5. 2(b)(1) 3), pursuant to Sectlon 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act 7 U S. C § 2(a)(l)(B) (2012) and )

Regulatlon 1.2, 17 CFR.§1. 2 (2018)
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‘ 128. Defendants DaCorta An1le Montle and Haas control OIG oM, and/or
’ ,‘Satell1te Holdlngs dlrectly or 1nd1rectly, and did not act in good fa1th or knowmgly 1nduced
‘dlrectly or rndrrectly, OIG’ , OM’s, ‘and Satellite Holdmgs conduct alleged in th1s Count.
Therefore,'under 7 U.S.C. § 13¢(b) (2012), DaCorta, Anrle, Montie, and Haas are llable for
O'IG’s, OM’S, vand Satellitelloldings’ violations of 7US.C..§ 6b(a)(2)(A)-(Cj and 17 CFR.
§ 5.20)(1)-03). |
129, Each,misrepresentatlon omission of materialfact false statement and
m1sappropr1at1on 1nclud1ng but not limited to those spec1ﬁcally alleged herein, ‘1s alleged as a
vseparate and distinct violation of Sectlon 4b(a)(2)(A) (C) of the Act 7 U.S. C § 6b(a)(2)(A)
(C) and 17 C.F_.R. § 5-2('3)(1)]’(3).' :

COUNT TWO

 Violation of Section 40(1)(A)-(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(A)-(B)
(Fraud and Deceit by CPOs and APs of CPOs)

(All Defendants)
130. Paragraphs 1 through 117 are re-alleged and mcorporated herein by reference

, .'131 Sectlon la(11) ofthe Act, 7U S C. § la(ll) (2012) deﬁnesaCPO 1n
E relevant part as any person:

“engaged in a busmess that is of the nature of a commod1ty pool
investment trust, syndicate, or similar form of enterpr1se and who, in
connection therewith, solicits, accepts, or receives from others, funds, =
securities, or property, either dlrectly or through capltal contributions,
the sale of stock or other forms of securities, or otherwise, for the
purpose of trading in commod1ty 1nterests including any—

D commod1ty for future delivery, security futures
R product, or swap; [or] .
‘() ~ agreement, contract, or transaction descrrbed in

[S]ection 2(c)(2)(C)(1) [of the Act] or. [S]ectlon
2(c)(2)(D)(1) [of the Act]
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13 Pursuant to Regulation 5.1(d)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 5.1(d)(1) (2018), and subjectto
certa‘invexceptions not rele_vant here, any person who operates or solicits funds,' Securities, or
property for a pooled‘investment vehicle and engages in retail forex transaetions is defined as
a retail forex-CPO. |

133. Pursuant to Section 2(0)(2)(C)(ii)(l) of the Act, 7 US.C.§ 2(o)(2)(C)l(ii)(vI)
(2012), “[a] greem_ents, co:ntraets, or transaetions” in retail ‘forex and accountsor pooled
investrnent vehicles _“shall be subject to . . . secthn[ ] 60 [of 'the Act],” except’in |
cireumstances not relevant here. - | - | |

. ;134. | Durlng the Relevant Period, Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellite Holdmgs

- (acting as a common enterprrse) engaged ina busmess for compensatlon or proﬁt that is-of
the nature of a ‘commodrty pool, investment trust, 'syndreate, or srmrlar form of v_enterprrse,
and in connection therevvith‘,,‘solicite‘d, accepted, or received from others, funds; seeurlties or
prope‘rty,’:eitller directly or through capital eontributi_ons,i the ‘sale of stock or _other_forms of
securities or otherwise, for the purriose of trading 1n 'cornmodity interests includlng m
relevant part transactlons in futures and forex therefore Defendants, OIG OM and Satelllte )

| Holdrngs acted asa CPO as deﬁned by 7 U.S. C § la(l 1). | ‘

l35:. Durrng the Relevant Perlod Defendants OIG OM and Satelhte Holdlngs
(actmg asa common enterprlse) were not reg1stered w1th the Comm1ss1on as CPOs |

136. Regulatlon l'.3, 17 C,F.R. § 1.3 (2018), defines an AP of a CPO as any natural' '
| person associated with a Cl’O : - | | |

asa nartner, ofﬁcer, en1p‘loyee, consultant, or-agent (orvany natural '

- person occupying a similar status or performing similar functions), in
any capacity which involves: (i) the solicitation of funds, securities, or-
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property for a participation in a commodity pool or (ii) 1 the supervision
of any person or persons so engaged[ ]

137, Pursuant to- 17 C F.R. § 5.1(d)(2), any person assoc1ated with a CPO “as a

3 partner, officer, employee,-consultant or agent (or any natural person occupying a similar
status or performmg similar functions), in any capaCity which inyolves: 1) .[t]he solicitation
of funds, securities, or property for a participation ina p_ooled yehicle; or (ii) [t]he |
supervision of any person or persons so engaged” is an AP of a retail forex CPO.

| : .138 - During the Relevant Perlod Defendants DaCorta Montie Duran, ‘and Haas
- were ass001ated with a CPO asa partner ofﬁcer employee or consultant or agent ina
capac1ty that mvolved the solicitation of funds securities, or property for part1c1pat10n ina - |
"commodlty pool or the supervision of any person or persons s0 engaged Therefore |
Defendants DaCorta Montie, Duran and Haas were APs ofa CPO as defined by 17 C.FR. |
Cos13 -
| 139. Duringj the Releyant Period, D‘efendants DaCorta, Montie, Duran, and Haas
~ were not registered ‘with the Commission'_..as APs of a CPO. | | |
14(:)1, ' Section 40(-l) of the Act, 7 USC § 60(1) (20 1-2)’ prohibits CPOs and APs_of
: CPOs whether registered with the CommlsSion or not by use of the mails or any means or
b‘ " mstrumentalrty of interstate commerce directly or mdirectly, from employing devices, "

: schemes‘ or artifices to defraud any cllent or partlcipant or prospective client or participant, or
‘engaging 1n transactions prac‘tices or courses of business which operate asa fraud or deceit
upon any cl1ent or particlpant or prospectrve client or partlcipant |

141. By reason of the foregomg, Defendants OM, OIG, and Satellite Holdmgs )

- (acting as a common enterprise) and Defendants DaCorta, Montre, Duran, and Haas, through
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use of the mails or any means or 1nstrumental1ty of mterstate commerce: (1) knowmgly or -
| recklessly employed dev1ces schemes or art1ﬁces to defraud pool part1c1pants and
prospectrve pool _part1c1pants or (2) engaged in transactlons, p_ract1ces, or courses of business
_wh1ch operated as a fraud or decelt upon pool partmpants or prospectlve pool part1c1pants.
142. By reason of the foregomg, Defendants OM OIG, and Satelhte Holdmgs
v(acting as a common enterpnse) and Defendants DaCorta, Montle, _Duran, and Haas V‘1olated
7U.S.C. § 60(1). . |
143, The foregomg acts omlss1ons and fallures occurred wrthm the .scope of the
1nd1v1dual defendants employment or ofﬁce w1th OIG, OM or Satelhte Holdlngs (actmg as :
‘a common enterprlse) Therefore OIG OM and Satell1te Holdmgs (acting as a common i
N enterprlse) are l1able for the1r acts, omlssmns and fa11ures in V1olat10n of 7 U. S C. § 60(1). :
144 Defendants DaCorta Amle Mont1e and Haas control OIG OM and/or
Satellite Holdlngs d1rectly or mdlrectly, and d1d not act in good falth or knowmgly mduced, ; o

: d1rectly or 1nd1rectly, OIG’s, OM’s and Satelhte Hold1ngs ] conduct alleged in this Count; » |
B 'Therefore under 7 U S C § 13c(b) (2012), DaCorta Anile, Mont1e and Haas are 11able fc r - '
: OIG’S OM’s and Satellrte Holdmgs ] V1olat1ons of 7 U S C. § 60(1) | : |
| 145. Each mlsrepresentatlon omission of mater1a1 fact and mlsapproprlatlon
v 1nclud1ng but not limited to. those‘spec1ﬁcally alleged herein, is alleged asa separate and ‘

distinct violation of 7 U;S.C'.,-§ 60(1).

44




Case 8:20-c\caR862 AMAETOBM S Di¢uDestbERl1 Fiteedl 07027209 Plagge%ﬁ)bBB?PagelD 2681
Case 8:19- cv-00886-VMC SPF Document 110 Flled 06/12/19 Page 46 of 57 PagelD 952

" COUNT THREE

Violation of Sections 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(I)(cc), 4k(2), 4m(1) of the Act,
- 7TUS.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(C)(iii)(T)(ce), 6k(2), 6m(1) (2012)
and Regulation 5.3(a)(2), 17 C.F.R. § 5. 3(a)(2)
(Fallure To Register as a CPO and Retail Forex CPO
and AP of a CPO and AP of Retail Forex CPO)

(All Defendants)

- 146. Paragraphs'l through 117 are re-alleged and incorpOrated herein by reference.

147. Subject to certain exceptlons not relevant here Sectlon 4m(1) of the Act 7

~U.S. C § 6m(1) (2012), states that it shall be “unlawful for any [CPO] unless regrstered
- under thrs chapter to make use of the malls or any means or 1nstrumenta11ty of mterstate
commerce-m connectron’w1th his busmess as such [CPO] ” f |

1.48; SubJ ect: to certam exceptlons not relevant here Sectlon 2(c)(2)(C)(111)(I)(cc) of
| the Act 7 U S. C § 2(c)(2)(C)(111)(I)(cc) (2012), states that a
| person unless reglstered in such capacity as the Commission

by rule, regulation, or order shall determine and a member of a
futures assocratron registered under section 17, shall not
(cc) operate or solicit . funds securities, N
~ property for any pooled investment vehicle that is not o
an- elrglble contract participant - in connectlon with
[retall forex contracts; agreements, or transactrons] »

1“49. ~ For the purpcs'es of retail forex transactions, a CPO '}is deﬂnedvin Regulation
5.1(d)(1), 17 C.FR. § 5.1(d)(1) (2018), as any person who operates or solicits funds,
securiti'e_s, or prope_rty for a pooled investment vehicle that is not an ECP, as defined in
Section Ia(18)v of the Act, 17 U.S.C. § 1a(18) (2012), and who engages in retail ifore‘x

transactions.
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150. - Except in ‘circurnstances not relevant here, Regulation:5._3(a)(>2)v(i),
, 17 CFR.§5. 3(a)(2)(i) (2018), requires those that meet the deﬁnition of a retail forex CPO :
" under 17C. FR. § 5 l(d) to reglster asa CPO w1th the Comm1ss1on
~151. Subject to certain exceptlons not relevant here Sectlon 4k(2) of the Act T
USC §' 6k(2) (2012), states that it shall be
| unlavyful for any person to be associated with a [CPO] as a partner,
officer, employee consultant, or agent . . . in any capacity that
-~ involves : ' ST
S () '_the solicitation of funds, securities, or property fora
: partlclpatron in a commodity pool or
(i) . the supervision of any person or persons so engaged
~ unless such person is registered with the Comm1ss1on
under this chapter as an [AP] of such [CPO]
152 For the purposes of retall forex transactlon an AP of a CPO is deﬁned in17
C.F. R § 5. 1(d)(2) as any natural person assoc1ated w1th a retall forex CPO asa partner ‘ B

ofﬂcer employee consultant or agent (or any natural person occupymg a s1m11ar status of

: performmg similar functlons) in any capa01ty that 1nvolves sollcltmg funds securltles or

=

property for partrclpatron ina pooled' mvestment vehlcle or superylsmg persons so en‘gage

‘ v:"“ 153. 'j Except 1n certam 01rcumstances not relevant here 17 C. F R § 5. 3(a)(2)(11),

_ requrres those that meet the deﬁmtlon of an AP of a retall forex CPO under 17 CFR. § 5 1(d)
~to reg1ster asan AP ofa CPO w1th the Commlssron | | | | |
154-. By reason of the foregomg, Defendants OIG, OM and Satellrte Holdmgs

(actmg as a common enterprlse) engaged in a busmess for compensatlon or proﬁt that is of

: vth>e nature of a commodlty pool, 1nvestment trust,. fsyndlcate, or s1m11ar form of enterprlse,

and in connection therewith, solicited, accepted, or received from others, funds, securities, or -
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: property; either directly or through capital contribUtions the sale of stock or other fonns of
vvsecurmes or otherw1se for the purpose of tradlng 1n commodlty 1nterests 1nclud1ng retail
' forex transactions; therefore Defendants OIG OM and Satelllte Holdmgs acted as CPOs, as
B ; deﬁned by 7 U.‘S.C. § la(11).
| 155. Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellite Holdings‘.(acﬁng asa common enterpris'e),
_while usihg the mails or means of interstate commerce in connection withtheir business as a
CPC, were not registered with the Cvommission as‘ :a CPO. |
' 156 By reason of the foregoing, ‘Defendants OIG?' OM, and Satellite Holdings ;‘
(actrng as a common enterprise) acted as unregistered cPos in violation of 7U.S. C ‘§: 6m(1).
’ 157: v By reason of the foregomg, Defendants OIG OM and Satelhte Holdmgs |
‘ (actmg asa common enterprrse) sohclted funds seeur1t1es or property for a pooled
, mvestment Vehrcle from 1nvestors who were not ECPs, as deﬁned by 7 U S. C § la(l 8), for
the purpose of tradmg in retall forex transactrons (as deﬁned by 17 C. F R. § 5. l(m)) thus
: OIG, OM and Satelllte Holdmgs (actmg as a common enterprrse) acted as CPOs engaged in -
B retall forex transactlons as deﬁned by 17 C F.R. § 5. l(d)( 1.
o 158. ' Defendants OIG OM, and Satelhte Holdmgs (actmg asa common enterprlse) )
‘vvvere not reglstered w1th the Comm1ss1on as CPOs engaged in retall forex transactlons and
therefore v1olated 7 U S C § 2(c)(2)(C)(111)(I)(cc) and 17 C. F R. § 5. 3(a)(2)(1)
) 1'59.‘ Durmg the Relevant Period, Defendants DaCorta Montle Duran and Haas
| assoclated with a  retail forex CPO (as deﬁned in 17 C F. R § 5.1(d)) as a partner ofﬁcer |
: /employe_e, consultant_, or »agent (or any natural person occupying a_51m11ar status or |

performing similar functions)), in a capacity that involved the solicitation of funds, securities, -
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- or property for a partlclpatlon ina commodlty pool or the superv1sron of persons SO engaged; S

: therefore Defendants DaCorta Montie, Duran, and Haas acted as APs of CPOs as deﬁned by.

“ 17CFR.§ 1 3. | | | | '

160. Durlng the Relevant Period, Defendants DaCorta;, Montle Duran, and Haas

were not r‘eglstered with the Commls‘smn as APs of a CPO; thus Defendants DaCorta

Montie, Duran and Haas acted as unregistered APs of CPOs in v1olatron of 7 US.C. § 6k 2)

161. By reason of the foregomg, Defendants DaCorta, Montle Duran and Haas

assoc1ated W1th a retall forex CPO (as deﬁned in 17 C.F. R § 5. l(d)) asa partner officer,

employee consultant or agent (or any natural person occupylng a s1m11ar status or

N performlng s1mrlar functlons)) ina capacny that mvolved the sohcrtatron of funds securrties, :

-~ .or property for a part101pat10n ina retarl forex pool or the superv1s1on of persons SO engage'd'; : -
'~ therefore, Defendants DaCorta, Montle Duran -and Haas acted as APs of CPOs as deﬁnec by

17 C F R §5. 1(d)(2)

162. Defendants DaCorta Montle Duran and Haas vyere not regrstered as APs ofa o

' CPO engaged in retall forex transactions, and therefore Vlolated 17 C.F. R §5. 3(a)(2)(11) |

- 163. Defendants DaCorta Amle Montre and Haas control OIG OM and/or

| " Satelllte Holdmgs dlrectly or 1nd1rectly, and d1d not act in good faith or. knowmgly 1nduced, -

| d1rectly or 1nd1rectly, OIG’s OM’s and Satelhte Holdlngs S conduct alleged in thrs Count g

- Therefore under Sectron 13(b) of the Act 7 U S. C § 13¢(b) (2012), DaCorta, An11e Montle, .

 and Haas are_ liable for OIG’ s, OM’s, and Sat_ellrte Holdlngs S vlolatrons' of 7U.S.C.

s 20Y(CYiiNI)(ee) and 6m(1) and 17 CER. § 5.3@))G).
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, 164. Each instance that Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellite Holdings acted as a |
| CPO but failed toregister w1th the Com’rnviss‘ionv as such is all‘eged as a :separate and distinct
violation, | ”
165_. | Eaeh instance that Defen’dants“DaCorta, Montie, Duran, and Haas acted as an :
AP of'a CPO hut falled to register with the Commission as such is alleged as a separate and
distinct violation. | |

'COUNT FOUR

Vlolatlon of Regulatlon 4. 20(b) (c), 17 C. F R. § 4 20(b) (c) (2018)
' (Failure To Receive Pool Funds in Pools’ Names
~and Commlnglmg Pool Funds)

(Defendants OIG OM Satelllte Holdmgs, DaCorta, Amle, Montle, and Haas)

| “166. Paragraphs | through lf7 are re- alleged and 1ncorporatedvhere1n by reference o
| v167. Regulatlon 5. 4 17CFR.§54 (2018) states that Part 4 of the Regulatlons o
17 C F.R.pt. 4 (2018), apphes to any person requrred to reglster as a CPO pursuant to Part 5
of the Regulatrons 17 C F.R. pt 5 (2018) relating to forex transactrons
| 168. Regulatlon 4. 20(b), 17 C F.R: § 4. 20(b) (2018) prohlblts CPOs Whether
regrstered ot not from rece1v1ng pool partrclpants funds in any name other than that of the
L pqoL_v : - |
169. 17 C.FR: §‘:4' 20((:) (2018), prohibits a CPO ~whether registered v‘or not, frorn
| _ commmglmg the property of any pool it operates with the property of any other person
170. By reason of the foregomg, Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellite Holdings -

(acting' asa common ente_rprls_e), while actln‘g. as CPOs for the Oas1s Pools, falled to receive
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topool participants” funds in} the names of the Oasis Pools and cornmingled the property of .
 the Oasis l’ools with property of Defendants or 'others- - | g |
_l7l. » By reason of the foregomg, Defendants OIG OM and Satell1te Holdmgs , -
~ (acting as a common enterprlse) violated 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(b)- (c)
172, Defendants DaCorta, Amle Mont1e and Haas control OIG OM and/or
Satelhte Holdings, directly or 1nd1rectly, and did not act in good fa1th or knowmgly 1nduced
| d1rectly or-1nd1rectly, OIG’ OM’s and Satelhte Holdings’s conduct -alleged in thls‘ Count.
Therefore, under Sect1on l3(b) of the Act 7U. S C. § l3c(b) (2012) DaCorta An1le Mont1e
| “and Haas are l1able for OIG’ OM’s, and Satelhte Holdings’s Vtolatlons of 17 CFR § o
4200b)-(c). | | | .
: l73 . Each act of 1mproperly‘recelvmg pool part1crpants funds and contmmghng_
. the property of the Oas1s Pools w1th non-pool property, lncludmg but not l1m1ted to those
' spec1ﬁcally alleged .herem,-rs alleged as a'separate and distinct _V1olat10n of 17 C:.F‘.R. -

§4200)-0).

COUNT FIVE

Violation of Regulation 4.21,17 C.F.R. § 4.21 (2018)
(Fallure To Provnde Pool Dlsclosures)

(Defendants OIG OM Satelllte Holdmgs, DaCorta, Amle, Montle, and Haas)

174, Paragraphs 1 through ll7 are re- alleged and 1ncorporated herein by reference '
175. Regulatlon 5 4,17 C F.R. § 5 4 (2018), states that Part 4 of the Regulatlons
17 C F.R. pt. 4 (2018) applles to any person requlred to reg1ster asa CPO pursuant to Part5 -

. of the Regulat10ns 17 C F.R. pt 5 (2018) relatmg to forex transact1ons

176. Regulat1on 4. 21 17 C F R. § 4.21 (2018) provxdes that
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each commod1ty pool operator registered or required to be regrstered
under the Act must deliver or cause to be delivered to a prospective
participant in a pool that it operates or intends to operate a Disclosure -
Document for the pool prepared in accordance with §§ 4.24 and 425 -
by no later than the time it delivers to the prospectwe partlclpant a
subscrlptron agreement for the pool . . :
177. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants OIG, OM, and Satellite Holdings
‘ ’(actlng as a common enterprise) failed to provide to prospective pool participants with pool
diselosure documents in the form speciﬁed in Regulations 4.24 and 4.25',_: 17 CF.R. §§ 4.24,
4.25(2018).
178. By reason of the foregomg, Defendants OIG, OM and Satell1te Holdmgs
(actmg as-a common enterpr1se) v1olated l7 CF. R.§4.21. | | |
: 179» Defendants DaCorta Anlle Mont1e and Haas control OIG, OM and/or
,"Satell1te Holdmgs drrectly or 1nd1rectly, and d1d not act in good fa1th or knowrngly 1nduced,
: d1rectly or 1nd1rectly-, OIG’ OM’s and Satelllte Holdmgs conduct alleged in this Count.
' “‘Therefore under Section l3(b) of the Act, 7U. S C. § l3c(b) (2012), DaCorta, Amle Mont1e
'and Haas are llable for OIG’s OM’s and Satellrte Holdmgs S. v1olatrons of 17 C.FR. §4.21.
- 180. Each fa1lure to furmsh the requ1red d1sclosure documents to prospect1ve pool

‘ part1c1pants and pool partrcrpants 1nclud1ng but not l1m1ted to those spec1ﬁcally alleged

‘herein, is alleged asa separate and drstlnct Vrolat1on of 17 C F. R § 4 21.
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“f VI RELIEF REQUESTED
: WHEREF ORE, the: Commrsswn respectfully requests that th1s Court as authortzed }
- by Sectlon 6c of the Act 7 U S.C. § 13a-1 (2012) and pursuant to 1ts own equ1table powers:
| A. ~ Find that Defendants OIG, OM Satellite Holdmgs DaCorta Anlle Montle,
~Duran, and Haas violated Sectlons 4b(a)(2)(A) -(O), 4k(2) 4m(1) 40(1)(A) (B), and
2(0)(2)(111)(1)(cc) of the Act, 7U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A)-(C),_6(k)(2), 6m(1), 60(1)(Aj)-(B),v
2(c)(2)(iii)(I)(cc)'(20 12), and RegulatiOns 4. 20(b)-(c); 4.21,5. 2(b)(1)-(3), and 5 .3(a)(2); {17
CFR. § 4, 20(b)- (c) 4. 21 5 2(b)(l) (3) 5. 3(a)(2)(111) (2018), |
B. Enter an order of permanent 1njunctron enjormng Defendants OIG, OM,
- Satellite Holdmgs DaCorta Anile, Montre Duran and Haas and the1r afﬁlrates agents
- servants employees SUCCessors, assrgns attorneys and all persons 1n actlve concert wrth

them, who recelve actual notlce of such order by personal service or otherw1se from

|

‘v engagmg in the conduct descrrbed above in violation of 7 U S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(A) (C), 6m( ),‘ .
j‘6o‘(1)(A)-(Bi),v and 2,(0)(2)(111)(_1)(00) and 17 C.F.R. §§ 4._2,0(b)-'(c), 4.21', 5.2’(b)(1)-(3), and |
5.3(:&)(.2); | .' : o : Lo , 3
'C._ Enter an order of permanent 1njunctron restrarnlng and en_|om1ng Defendants "’

s OIG OM Satelllte Holdmgs DaCorta Anlle Montie, Duran, and Haas and the1r afﬁllates,
agents servants employees successors a551gns attorneys and all persons in actlve concert 11 :

" with them‘, from .dlrectly or mdrrectly: - | |
1) Tradmtc:,y on or subJect to the rules of any reglstered entity (as that term fis

= defined by Section 1a(40) of the Act, 7 U S C.§ la(40) (2012))

2) Enterlng mto any transactlons 1nvolv1ng commodlty 1nterests” (as thant
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‘term is defined in Regulation 1.3, 17CFR.§1.3 (2018)); for accounts
held in the name of any Defendant or for accounts in which .any Defendant
has a diréct or indirect interest; | |
3) ‘Having any comniodity interests traded on any Defendants’ behalf;
4) Controlling or directing the trading for of on behalf of any other person or
entity, whether hy power of attorney or otherwise, in any account
~ involving commodlty 1nterests
5) Sollc1t1ng, rece1v1ng, or acceptlng any funds from any person for the
purpose of pur_chasmg or selling of any commodity interests;
- 6) Applying for regi‘stration or 'clairn"ing exemption from ‘registration With the
CFTC in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requiring such
registratlon or exemptlon from reglstratlon with the CFTC except as |
provided for i m Regulation 4. 14(a)(9) 17 C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (201 8) and
7) Acting as a pr1nc1pa1 (as that term is defined in Regulat1on 3.1(a), :
17CFR.§ 3.1(a) (2018)), agent, or any other ofﬁcer or employee of any
persOn registered, exempted from registration, or required to be regist_ered '
with the CFTC except as provided for in17 C.FLRﬂ.§ 4.142)(9). ‘_
' D.v Enter an order directing Defendants OIG, OM,:Satellite ﬁHoldings', DaCorta,
Anile, Montie, Duran,and Haas, as‘well ‘as -any third-party tran‘sferee and/or successors
: thereof to disgorge pursuant to such procedure as the Court may order ail benefits received-
including, but not limited to, salaries, commissions, loans fees, revenues, and tradlng proﬁts | ‘
derived, directly or indirectly, from acts or practlces which constitute violations of the Act
and Regulations as described herein, from Aprll 15,2014, to the present 1nclud1ng pre-
v judgment and post-Judgment 1nterest

E. Enter an order d1rect1ng Relief Defendants Mainstream Fund Services, Inc
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- ‘Bovyling‘Green Lagoon Roar of the Lion 444 4064 Founders Club 6922 Lacantera 1331'8: .
: Lost Key and 40aks, 1nclud1ng any thlrd-party transferee and/or SUCCessors thereof to
dlsgorge pursuant to such procedure as the Court may order all benefits received mcludrng,
but not 11m1ted to, salarres commlsswns loans, fees, revenues, and tradlng proﬁts derlved
drrectly or 1nd1rectly, from acts or practlces which constrtute v1olatrons of the Act or

, Regulatlons as descrlbed hereln from Aprll 15 2014, to the present including pre-Judgment
and post-Judgment interest; - o

- F. . Enter an order requrrmg Defendants OIG, OM Satelllte Holdmgs DaCorta, |

~ Anile, Mont1e Duran and Haas, as well as any SUCCESSOTS thereof to make full restrtutlon to

—

', every person who has sustarned losses proxrmately caused by the v1olatrons descrlbed here n,
: 1nclud1ng pre-Judgment and post-Judgment interest; |
‘ G. Enter an order d1rect1ng Defendants OIG OM Satelllte Holdmgs DaCorta,
| Anile Montre Duran and Haas as well as any successors thereof to rescrnd pursuant to
- such procedures as the Court may order all contracts and agreements whether 1mplled or
express entered into between wrth or among Defendants 0OIG, OM Satelllte Holdlngs
DaCorta An11e Montle Duran, and Haas and any of the pool partlclpants whose funds Were' '
recelved by Defendants OIG OM Satellrte Holdrngs DaCorta Anile, Montle Duran and |
Haas asa result of the acts and practlces that constrtuted Vrolatrons of the Act and
Regulatrons as descrlbed hereln ‘ | _ ‘
H. Enter an order d1rect1ng Defendants OIG OM Satellrte Holdrngs DaCorta,
- Anile, Montie Duran, and Haas to pay a civil monetary penalty assessed by the Court ‘inan
amount not to exceed the penalty prescnbed by Section 6c(d)(l) of the Act, 7 U.S. C § 13a-
" 1(d)(1) (2012), as adjusted for 1nﬂat10n pursuant to the Federal Civil Penaltles Inﬂatlon
Adjustment Act Improvements Act of 2015 Pub L ll4 74 tit. VII, § 701, 129 Stat. 584
599 600, see Regulatron 143 8, 17 C F R § 143 8 (2018), for each violation of the Act and
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'Regulat‘ions ‘as described herein;

L »i Enter an order requ1r1ng Defendants OIG, OM Satelhte Holdmgs DaCorta, -
Amle Montle Duran and Haas to pay costs and fees as permltted by 28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and :
2413(a)(2) (2012) and

~J. - Enter an order prov1dmg such other and further rellef as this Court may deem -

necessary and appropriate under the circumstances.

Dated: June 12, 2019 ‘ " v v Respectfully submitted

»COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION ' ‘

By /s/ Jenmfer J. Chapin

Jo E. Mettenburg, |mettenburg@cftc gov

TRIAL COUNSEL

Jennifer J. Chapin, ichapin@cfte.gov

J. Alison Auxter, aauxter@cftc.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff ‘
- COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING

COMMISSION = -

4900 Main Street, Suite 500

‘Kansas City, MO 64112

(816) 960-7700
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on June 12,2019, 1 ﬁled a copy of the foregomg w1th the C]erk_
of the Court via the CM/ECF system which served all parties of record who are equlpped to> :
- receive service of documents via the CM/ECF system. |
I hereby certify that on June 12, 2019, 1 provided service of the foregoing via
electronic mail to: | | |

Gerard Marrone
Law Office of Gerard Marrone P.C.
',66 85 73rd Place
~ Second Floor
Middle Village, NY 11379
gmarronelaw(@gmail.com , '
COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT JOSEPH S ANILE, IT

I hereby certlfy that on June 12, 2019 I pr0v1ded service of the foregomg via
'electronlc mall to the followmg unrepresented party:

- Francisco “Frank” L. Duran
fduran@oasisig.com
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

TAMPA DIVISION
COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF

OASIS INTERNATIONAL GROUP,
LIMITED; OASIS MANAGEMENT, LLC;
SATELLITE HOLDINGS COMPANY;
MICHAEL J. DACORTA:

JOSEPH S. ANILE, I1;

RAYMOND P. MONTIE, I1L;
FRANCISCO “FRANK” L. DURAN; and
JOHN J. HAAS

Defendants,

and

MAINSTREAM FUND SERVICES,

INC.; BOWLING GREEN CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, LLC; LAGOON
INVESTMENTS, INC.: ROAR OF THE
LION FITNESS, LLC; 444 GULF OF
MEXICO DRIVE, LLC: 6922 LACANTERA
CIRCLE, LLC; 13318 LOST KEY PLACE,
LLC; and 40AKS LLC,

Relief Defendants.

/

CONSOLIDATED RECEIVERSHIP ORDER

WHEREAS this matter comes before this Court upon Plaintiff Commodity Futures
Trading Commission’s (“CFTC” or “Commission™) Unopposed Motion for Entry of Consent

Orders of Preliminary Injunction Against Defendants Raymond P. Montie, 111 (“Montie™),
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lohn J. Haas (“Haas™), and Satellite Holdings Company (“SHC”), and Consent Order of
Amended Preliminary Injunction and Other Equitable Relief Against Defendant Francisco
“Frank™ L. Duran (“Duran”), and for entry of this Consolidated Receivership Order, which
supersedes two prior orders appointing the Receiver and giving the Receiver certain powers
in this litigation (the April 15, 2019 Statutory Restraining Order, the “SRO,” Doc. #7; and
the April 30, 2019 Order Appointing Receiver and Staying Litigation, Doc. #44); and,

WHEREAS the Court finds that, based on the record in these proceedings, the entry
of these three orders is necessary and appropriate for the purposes of marshalling and
preserving all assets (real, personal, intangible, or otherwise) of the Defendants and the
Relief Defendants (“Receivership Assets”) as well as the assets of any other entities or
individuals that: (a) are attributable to funds derived from pool participants, lenders,
investors, or clients of the Defendants and/or Relief Defendants; (b) are held in constructive
trust for the Defendants and/or Relief Defendants; (c) were fraudulently transferred by the
Defendants and/or Relief Defendants; and/or {d) may otherwise be includable as assets of the
estates of the Defendants and/or Relief Defendants (collectively, the “Recoverable Assets™)
(Receivership Assets and Recoverable Assets, collectively, are referred to herein as
“Receivership Property™); and,

WHEREAS this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal
Jurisdiction over the Defendants and the Relief Defendants, and venue properly lies in this
district.

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND

DECREED THAT:
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1. Except as otherwise specified in the Consent Order of Preliminary Injunction
Against Defendant Montie, the Consent Order of Preliminary Injunction Against Defendants
Haas and SHC, and the Consent Order of Amended Preliminary Injunction Against Duran,
the Court hereby takes exclusive jurisdiction and possession of the assets, of whatever kind
and wherever situated, of the following Defendants and Relief Defendants: Oasis
International Group, Limited; Oasis Management, LLC; Satellite Holdings Company;
Michael J. DaCorta; Joseph S. Anile, II; Raymond P. Montie, 1II; Francisco “Frank” L.
Duran; John J. Haas; Bowling Green Capital Management, LLC; Lagoon Investments, Inc.;
Roar Of The Lion, Fitness, LLC; 444 Gulf of Mexico Drive, LLC; 4064 Founders Club
Drive, LLC; 6922 Lacantera Circle, LLC; 13318 Lost Key Place, LLC; and 40Qaks LLC
(collectively, “Receivership Defendants™).

2. With respect to Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund Services, Inc., the Court
takes exclusive jurisdiction and possession of the Citibank account ending in -0764 as part of
the Receivership Property. See Doc. #14 (dated April 23, 2019 and releasing the Mainstream
f/blo Oasis Citibank Accounts -1174, -5606 and -0764). The Court expressly reserves the
right to determine at a later date whether other assets of Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund
Services should be included in the Recoverable Assets.

3. Until further Order of this Court, Burton W. Wiand, Esq. of Wiand Guerra
King P.A. is hereby appointed to serve without bond as receiver (the “Receiver”) for the
estates of the Receivership Defendants. This Order shall also constitute the appointment or

re-appointment of the Receiver for purposes of 28 U.S.C. § 754.
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I. Asset Freeze

4. Except as otherwise specified in the Consent Order of Preliminary Injunction
Against Defendant Montie, the Consent Order of Preliminary Injunction Against Defendants
Haas and SHC, and the Consent Order of Amended Preliminary Injunction Against Duran, or
except as otherwise specified herein, all Receivership Properiy remains frozen until further
order of this Court. Accordingly, all persons and entities with direct or indirect control over
any Receivership Property, other than the Receiver, are hereby restrained and enjoined from
directly or indirectly transferring, setting off, receiving, changing, selling, pledging,
assigning, liquidating or otherwise disposing of or withdrawing such assets. This freeze shall
include, but not be limited to, Receivership Property that is on deposit with financial
institutions such as banks, brokerage firms, and mutual funds. This freeze shall also include
but not be limited to Receivership Property held as real property, personal property,
intangibles, collectibles, metals, and cryptocurrencies.

II. General Powers and Duties of Receiver

5. The Receiver shall have all powers, authorities, rights and privileges
heretofore possessed by the officers, directors, managers, and general and limited partners of
the entity Receivership Defendants under applicable state and federal law, by the governing
charters, by-laws, articles and/or agreements in addition to all powers and authority of a
receiver at equity, and all powers conferred upon a receiver by the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §$
754 and 1692, and Fed. R. Civ. P. 66.

6. The trustees, directors, officers, managers, employees, investment advisors,

accountants, attorneys, and other agents of the Receivership Defendants are hereby dismissed
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and the powers of any general partners, directors and/or managers are hereby suspended.
Such persons and entities shall have no authority with respect to the Receivership
Defendants’ operations or assets, except to the extent as may hereafter be expressly granted
by the Receiver. The Receiver shall assume and control the operation of the Receivership

Defendants and shall pursue and preserve all of their claims.

7. No person holding or claiming any position of any sort with any of the

Receivership Defendants shall possess any authority to act by or on behalf of any of the

Receivership Defendants.

8. Subject to the specific provisions in Sections [1I through XIV, below, the

Receiver shall have the following general powers and duties:

A. To use reasonable efforts to determine the nature, location and value of
all property interests of the Receivership Defendants, including, but
not limited to: real estate, monies, funds, securities, credits, effects,
goods, chattels, lands, premises, leases, claims, rights, and other assets,
together with all rents, profits, dividends, interest, or other income
attributable thereto, of whatever kind, which the Receivership
Defendants own, possess, have a beneficial interest in, or control
directly or indirectly (collectively, the “Receivership Estates™);

B. To take custody, control and possession of all Receivership Property
and records relevant thereto from the Receivership Defendants; to sue
for and collect, recover, receive and take into possession from third
parties all Receivership Property and records relevant thereto;

C. To manage, control, operate and maintain the Receivership Estates and
hold in his possession, custody and control all Receivership Property,
pending further Order of this Court;

D. To use Receivership Property for the benefit of the Receivership
Estates, making payments and disbursements and incurring expenses
as may be necessary or advisable in the ordinary course of business in
discharging his duties as Receiver;

E. To take any action which, prior to the entry of this Order, could have
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been taken by the officers, directors, partners, managers, trustees and
agents of the Receivership Defendants;

To engage and employ persons in his discretion to assist him in
carrying out his duties and responsibilities hereunder, including, but
not limited to, accountants, attorneys, securities traders, registered
representatives, financial or business advisers, liquidating agents, real
estate agents, forensic experts, brokers, traders or auctioneers;

To take such action as necessary and appropriate for the preservation
of Receivership Property or to prevent the dissipation or concealment
of Receivership Property;

To issue subpoenas or letters rogatory to compel testimony of persons
or production of records, consistent with the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, except for the provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(d)(D),
concerning any subject matter within the powers and duties granted by
this Order;

To bring such legal actions based on law or equity in any state, federal,
or foreign court as the Receiver deems necessary or appropriate in
discharging his duties as Receiver;

To pursue, resist, and defend all suits, actions, claims, and demands
which may now be pending or which may be brought by or asserted,
directly or indirectly, against the Receivership Estates;

To request the assistance of the U.S. Marshals Service, in any judicial
district, to assist the Receiver in carrying out his duties to take
possession, custody, and control of, or identify the location of, any
Receivership Assets, documents or other materials belonging to the
Receivership Defendants. In addition, the Receiver is authorized to
request similar assistance from any other federal, state, county, or civil
law enforcement officer(s) or constable(s) of any jurisdiction; and,

To take such other action as may be approved by this Court.

IIE. Access to Information

9. Absent a valid assertion of their respective rights against self-incrimination

under the Fifth Amendment, the individual Receivership Defendants (DaCorta, Anile,

Montie, Duran and Haas) and the past and/or present officers, directors, agents, managers,
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general and limited partners, trustees, attorneys, accountants, and employees of the entity
Receivership Defendants, as well as those acting in their place, are hereby ordered and
directed to preserve and, if they have not already done so pursuant to either the April 15,
2019 SRO (Doc. #7) or the April 30, 2019 Order Appointing Receiver and Staying Litigation
(Doc. #44), 1o turn over to the Receiver forthwith all paper and electronic information of,
and/or relating to, the Receivership Defendants and/or all Receivership Property; such
information shall include but not be limited to books, records, documents, accounts, and all
other instruments and papers.

10. If they have not already done so pursuant to either the April 15,2019 SRO
(Doc. #7) or the April 30, 2019 Order Appointing Receiver and Staying Litigation (Doc.
#44), then within fourteen (14) days of the entry of this Order, Defendants DaCorta, Anile,
Montie, Duran, and Haas shall file with the Court and serve upon the Receiver and the CFTC
a sworn statement listing: (a) the identity, location, and estimated value of all Receivership
Property; (b) all employees (and job titles thereof), other personnel, attorneys. accountants,
and any other agents or contractors of the Receivership Defendants; and, (c) the names,
addresses, and amounts of claims of all known creditors of the Receivership Defendants.

11 If they have not already done so pursuant to either the April 15, 2019 SRO
(Doc. #7) or the April 30, 2019 Order Appointing Receiver and Staying Litigation (Doc.
#44), then within thirty (30) days of the entry of this Order, Defendants DaCorta, Anile,
Montie, Duran, and Haas, and Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund Services, Inc. shall file

with the Court and serve upon the Receiver and the Commission a sworn statement and

accounting, with complete documentation, covering the period from January 1, 2011 to the
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present:

A. Identifying every account at every bank, brokerage, or other financial
institution: (a) over which Receivership Defendants have signatory
authority; and (b) opened by, in the name of, or for the benefit of, or
used by, the Receivership Defendants;

B. Identifying all credit, bank, charge, debit, or other deferred payment
card issued to or used by each Receivership Defendant, including but
not limited to the issuing institution, the card or account number(s), all
persons or entities to which a card was issued and/or with authority to
use a card, the balance of each account and/or card as of the most
recent billing statement, and all statements for the last twelve months;

C. Identifying all assets received by any of them from any person or
entity, including the value, location, and disposition of any assets so
received; and

D. [dentifying all funds received by the Receivership Defendants, and
each of them, in any way related, directly or indirectly, to the conduct
alleged in Plaintiffs” Complaint. The submission must clearly identify,
among other things, all investors, the securities they purchased, the

date and amount of their investments, and the current location of such
funds.

12. If they have not already done so pursuant to the April 30, 2019 Order
Appointing Receiver and Staying Litigation (Doc. #44), then within thirty (30) days of the
entry of this Order, Defendants DaCorta, Anile, Montie, Duran, and Haas shall provide to the
Receiver and the CFTC copies of the Receivership Defendants’ federal income tax returns
for 2011 through 2018 with all relevant and necessary underlying documentation.

13. Absent a valid assertion of their respective rights against self-incrimination
under the Fifth Amendment, Defendants DaCorta, Anitle, Montie, Duran, and Haas, Relief
Defendant Mainstream Fund Services, Inc., and the entity Receivership Defendants’ past
and/or present officers, directors, agents, attorneys, managers, shareholders, employees,

accountants, debtors, creditors, managers, and general and limited partners, as well as other
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appropriate persons or entities, shall answer under oath to the Receiver all questions which
the Receiver may put to them and produce all documents as required by the Receiver
regarding the business of the Receivership Defendants, or any other matter relevant to the
operation or administration of the receivership or the collection of funds due to the
Receivership Defendants. In the event that the Receiver deems it necessary to require the
appearance of the aforementioned persons or entities, the Receiver shall make his deposition
requests in accordance with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

14, The Receivership Defendants, Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund Services,
Inc., or other persons acting or purporting to act on their behalf, are required to assist the
Receiver in fulfilling his duties and obligations. As such, they must respond promptly and
truthfully to all requests for information and documents from the Receiver.

IV. Access to Books, Records and Accounts

15. Except as otherwise specified in the Consent Order of Preliminary Injunction
Against Defendant Montie, the Consent Order of Preliminary Injunction Against Defendants
Haas and SHC, and the Consent Order of Amended Preliminary Injunction Against Duran,
the Receiver is authorized to take immediate possession of all assets, bank accounts or other
financial accounts, books and records, and all other documents or instruments relating to the
Receivership Defendants. All persons and entities having control, custody, or possession of
any Receivership Property are hereby directed to turn such property over to the Receiver.

16.  The Receivership Defendants, and Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund
Services, Inc., as well as their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, any persons acting for

or on behalf of the Receivership Defendants, and any persons receiving notice of this Order
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by personal service, facsimile transmission, or otherwise, having possession of the property,
business, books, records, accounts, or assets of the Receivership Defendants are hereby
directed to deliver the same to the Receiver, his agents, and/or his employees.

7. All banks, brokerage firms, financial institutions, and other persons or entities
that have possession, custody, or control of any assets or funds held by, in the name of, or for
the benefit of, directly or indirectly, any of the Receivershi p Defendants that receive actual
notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile transmission, or otherwise shall:

A, Not liquidate, transfer, sell, convey, or otherwise transfer any assets,
securities, funds, or accounts in the name of or for the benefit of the
Receivership Defendants, except upon instructions from the Receiver;

B. Not exercise any form of set-off, alleged set-off, lien, or any form of
self-help whatsoever, or refuse to transfer any funds or assets to the
Receiver’s control, without the permission of this Court;

C. Within five (5) business days of receipt of such notice, file with the
Court and serve on the Receiver and counsel for Plaintiffs a certified
statement setting forth, with respect to each such account or other
asset, the balance in the account or description of the assets as of the
close of business on the date of receipt of the notice; and,

D. Cooperate expeditiously in providing information and transferring
funds, assets, and accounts to the Receiver or at the direction of the

Receiver.

V. Access to Real and Personal Property

18. The Receiver is authorized to take immediate possession of all personal
property of the Receivership Defendants, wherever located, including but not limited to
electronically stored information, computers, laptops, hard drives, external storage drives,
and any other such memory, media or electronic storage devices, books, papers, data

processing records, evidence of indebtedness, bank records and accounts, savings records and

10
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» certificates of deposit, stocks, bonds, debentures,
and other securities and investments, contracts, mortgages, furniture, office supplies, and
equipment.

19 Except as otherwise specified in Paragraphs 20 and 21 below, the Receiver is

premises; or (c) destroying, concealing or erasing anything on such premises. Real property

includes, but is not limited to, premises located at:

Premises Address
444 Gulf of Mexico Drive

Longboat Key, Florida

Description

Defendant O1G’s main office
(Owned by Relief Defendant 444 Gulf of
Mexico Drive)

Defendant Anile’s residence

(Owned by Relief Defendant 4064 Founders
Club Drive, LLC)

Defendant DaCorta’s residence
(Owned by Relief Defendant 6922
Lacantera Circle, LLC)

Defendant DaCorta’s residence
(Owned by Relief Defendant 13318 Lost

4064 Founders Club Drive
Sarasota, Florida

6922 Lacantera Circle
Lakewood Ranch, Florida

13318 Lost Key Place

Lakewood Ranch, Florida
Key Place, LLC)

7312 Desert Ridge Glen Owned by 7312 Desert Ridge Glen, LLC {of

Lakewood Ranch, Florida which Defendant DaCorta was a principal)

17006 Vardon Terrace, #105
Lakewood Ranch, Florida

Owned by 17006 Vardon Terrace #1053,
LLC (of which Defendant OM is a member
and DaCorta is the registered agent).

11
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Premises Address Description

16804 Vardon Terrace, #108 Owned by 16804 Vardon Terrace, #108,

Lakewood Ranch, Florida LLC (of which Defendant OM is a member
and DaCorta is the registered agent).

16904 Vardon Terrace, #106 Owned by 16904 Vardon Terrace, #106,

Lakewood Ranch, Florida LLC (of which Defendant DaCorta is the
authorized representative).

16804 Vardon Terrace, #307 Owned by Vincent Raia (Defendant OM

Lakewood Ranch, Florida holds a $215,000 mortgage on property).

6300 Midnight Pass Road, No. 1002 Owned by 6300 Midnight Pass Road, No.

Sarasota, Florida 1002, LLC (of which DaCorta is the
authorized representative).

20.  Defendant Montie owns residences located on Goose Pond Road in Lake
Aerial, Pennsylvania; on MacArthur Boulevard in Hauppage, New York; and on New
Hampshire Road in Jackson, New Hampshire. Pursuant to Paragraphs 9(i) and 9(j) of
Montie’s Consent Preliminary Injunction Order, Montie is responsible for making the
mortgage, property tax, and insurance payments and for the general upkeep of these
residences.

21. Defendant Haas jointly owns a residence, which he previously identified at
Doc. #143-1. Pursuant to Paragraph 9(i) of Haas’s Consent Preliminary Injunction Order,
Haas is responsible for making mortgage, property tax, and insurance payments and for the
general upkeep of this residence.

22. In order to execute the express and implied terms of this Order, the Receiver
is authorized to change door locks to the premises described above in Paragraph 19. The
Receiver shall have exclusive control of the keys. The Receivership Defendants, or any other
person acting or purporting to act on their behalf, are ordered not to change the locks in any

manner, nor to have duplicate keys made, nor shall they have keys in their possession during

12
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the term of the receivership.

23. The Receiver is authorized to open all mail directed to or received by or at the
offices or post office boxes of the Receivership Defendants, and to inspect all mail opened
prior to the entry of this Order, to determine whether items or information therein fall within
the mandates of this Order.

VI. Notice to Third Parties

24.  The Receiver shall promptly give notice of his appointment to all known
officers, directors, agents, employees, sharcholders, creditors, debtors, managers, and general
and limited partners of the Receivership Defendants, as the Receiver deems necessary or
advisable to effectuate the operation of the receivership.

25. All persons and entities owing any obligation, debt, or distribution with
respect to an ownership interest to any Receivership Defendant shall, until further ordered by
this Court, pay all such obligations in accordance with the terms thereof to the Receiver and
its receipt for such payments shall have the same force and effect as if the Receivership
Defendant had received such payment.

26. The Receiver shall not be responsible for payment or performance of any
obligations of the Receivership Defendants that were incurred by, or for the benefit of, the
Receivership Defendants prior to the date of this Order, including but not limited to any
agreements with third party vendors, landiords, brokers, purchasers, or other contracting
parties.

27. In furtherance of his responsibilities in this matter, the Receiver is authorized

to communicate with, and/or serve this Order upon, any person, entity, or government office

13
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that he deems appropriate to inform them of the status of this matter and/or the financial
condition of the Receivership Estates. All government offices which maintain public files of
security interests in real and personal property shall, consistent with such office’s applicable
procedures, record this Order upon the request of the Receiver or Plaintiff.

28.  The Receiver is authorized to instruct the United States Postmaster to hold
and/or reroute mail which is related, directly or indirectly, to the business, operations or
activities of any of the Receivership Defendants (the “Receiver’s Mail™), including all mail
addressed to, or for the benefit of, the Receivership Defendants. The Postmaster shall not
comply with, and shall immediately repott to the Receiver, any change of address or other
instruction given by anyone other than the Receiver concerning the Receiver’s Mail. The
Receivership Defendants shall not open any of the Receiver’s Mail and shall immediately
turn over such mail, regardless of when received, to the Receiver. All personal mail of any
individual Receivership Defendants, and/or any mail appearing to contain privileged
information, and/or any mail not falling within the mandate of the Receiver, shall be released
to the named addressee by the Receiver. The foregoing instructions shall apply to any
proprietor, whether individual or entity, of any private mail box, depository, business or
service, or mail courier or delivery service, hired, rented or used by the Receivership
Defendants. The Receivership Defendants shall not open a new mailbox, or take any steps or
make any arrangements to receive mail in contravention of this Order, whether through the
U.S. mail, a private mail depository, or courier service.

29. Subject to payment for services provided, any entity furnishing water, electric,

telephone, sewage, garbage, or trash removal services to the Receivership Defendants shall

14
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maintain such service and transfer any such accounts to the Receiver unless instructed to the

| contrary by the Receiver.

| 30.  The Receiver is authorized to assert, prosecute, and/or negotiate any claim
under any insurance policy held by or issued on behalf of the Receivership Defendants, or
their officers, directors, agents, employees ,or trustees, and to take any and all appropriate

steps in connection with such policies.

VII. Injunction Against Interference with Receiver

31. The Receivership Defendants, Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund Services,
Inc., and all persons receiving notice of this Order by personal service, facsimile or
otherwise, are hereby restrained and enjoined from directly or indirectly taking any action or
causing any action to be taken, without the express written agreement of the Receiver, which

would:

A. Interfere with the Receiver’s efforts to take control, possession, or
management of any Receivership Property; such prohibited actions
include but are not limited to, using self-help or executing or issuing or
causing the execution or issuance of any court attachment, subpoena,
replevin, execution, or other process for the purpose of impounding or
taking possession of or interfering with or creating or enforcing a lien
upon any Receivership Property;

B. Hinder, obstruct or otherwise interfere with the Receiver in the
performance of his duties; such prohibited actions include but are not
limited to concealing, destroying, or altering records or information;

C. Dissipate or otherwise diminish the value of any Receivership
Property; such prohibited actions include but are not limited to
releasing claims or disposing, transferring, exchanging, assigning, or
in any way conveying any Receivership Property, enforcing
Jjudgments, assessments, or claims against any Receivership Property
or any Receivership Defendant, attempting to modify, cancel,
terminate, call, extinguish, revoke, or accelerate the due date of any
lease, loan, mortgage, indebtedness, security agreenient, or other

15



Case 8:20-@a3e862-9/MC-0UZ5 - Y c UDoenindEdt- 1- 1Fileteti00u21701 9P #Rege316f @22BagelD 2708
Case 8:19-cv-00886-VMC-SPF Document 177 Filed 07/11/19 Page 16 of 25 PagelD 2113

agreement executed by any Receivership Defendant, or which
otherwise affects any Receivership Property; or,

D, Interfere with or harass the Receiver, or interfere in any manner with
the exclusive jurisdiction of this Court over the Receivership Estates.

32. The Receivership Defendants and Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund
Services, Inc., or any person acting or purporting to act on their behalf shall cooperate with
and assist the Receiver in the performance of his duties.

33, The Receiver shall promptly notify the Court and the CFTC’s counsel of any
failure or apparent failure of any person or entity to comply in any way with the terms of this

Order.

VIII. Stay of Litigation

34.  As set forth in detail below, the following proceedings, excluding the instant
proceeding and all police or regulatory actions and actions of the CFTC or the Receiver

related to the above-captioned enforcement action, are stayed until further Order of this

Court:

All civil legal proceedings of any nature, including, but not limited to, bankruptcy
proceedings, arbitration proceedings, foreclosure actions, default proceedings, or
other actions of any nature involving: (a) the Receiver, in his capacity as Receiver;
(b) any Receivership Property, wherever located; (c) any of the Receivership
Defendants, including subsidiaries and partnerships; or, (d) any of the Receivership
Defendants’ past or present officers, directors, managers, agents, or general or limited
partners sued for, or in connection with, any action taken by them while acting in
such capacity of any nature, whether as plaintiff, defendant, third-party plaintiff,
third-party defendant, or otherwise (such proceedings are hereinafter referred to as
“Ancillary Proceedings™).

35. The parties to any and all Ancillary Proceedings are enjoined from
commencing or continuing any such legal proceeding, or from taking any action in

connection with any such proceeding, including, but not limited to, the issuance or

Ié
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employment of process.

36.  All Ancillary Proceedings are stayed in their entirety, and all Courts having
any jurisdiction thereof are enjoined from taking or permitting any action until further Order
of this Court. Further, as to a cause of action accrued or accruing in favor of one or more of
the Receivership Defendants or the Receiver against a third person or party, any applicable
statute of limitation is tolled during the period in which this injunction against
commencement of legal proceedings is in effect as to that cause of action.

IX. Managing Assets

37.  The Receiver shall establish one or more custodial accounts at a federally
insured bank to receive and hold all cash equivalent Receivership Property (the
“Receivership Funds™).

38. The Receiver may, without further Order of this Court, transfer, compromise,
or otherwise dispose of any Receivership Property, other than real estate, in the ordinary
course of business, on terms and in the manner the Receiver deems most beneficial to the
Receivership Estate, and with due regard to the realization of the true and proper value of
such Receivership Property.

39. Subject to Paragraph 40, immediately below, the Receiver is authorized to
locate, list for sale or lease, engage a broker for sale or lease, cause the sale or lease, and take
all necessary and reasonable actions to cause the sale or lease of all real property in the
Receivership Estates, either at public or private sale, on terms and in the manner the Receiver

deems most beneficial to the Receivership Estate, and with due regard to the realization of

the true and proper value of such real property.
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40. Upon further Order of this Court, pursuant to such procedures as may be
required by this Court and additional authority such as 28 U.S.C. §§ 2001 and 2004, the
Receiver will be authorized to sell, and transfer clear title to, all real property in the
Receivership Estates. The parties agree the Receiver can move the Court to waive strict
compliance with 28 U.S.C. §§ 2001 and 2004,

41, The Receiver is authorized to take all actions to manage, maintain, and/or
wind-down business operations of the Receivership Defendants, including: (i) furloughing,
terminating, and/or engaging employees on a contract basis; (ii) closing the business; and (iii)
making legally required payments to creditors, employees, and agents of the Receivership
Estates and communicating with vendors, investors, governmental and regulatory authorities,
and others, as appropriate.

42. The Receiver shall take all necessary steps to enable the Receivership Funds
to obtain and maintain the status of a taxable “Settlement Fund,” within the meaning of
Section 468B of the Internal Revenue Code and of the regulations, when applicable, whether
proposed, temporary or final, or pronouncements thereunder, including the filing of the
elections and statements contemplated by those provisions. The Receiver shall be designated
the administrator of the Settlement Fund, pursuant to Treas. Reg. § 1.468B-2(k)(3)(i), and
shall satisfy the administrative requirements imposed by Treas. Reg. § 1.468B-2, including
but not limited to: (a) obtaining a taxpayer identification number; (b) timely filing applicable
federal, state, and local tax returns and paying taxes reported thereon; and (c¢) satisfying any
information, reporting, or withholding requirements imposed on distributions from the

Settlement Fund. The Receiver shall cause the Settlement Fund to pay taxes in a manner

18
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consistent with treatment of the Settlement Fund as a “Qualified Settlement Fund.” The
Receivership Defendants and Relief Defendant Mainstream Fund Services, Inc. shall

cooperate with the Receiver in fulfilling the Settlement Funds’ obligations under Treas. Reg.

§ 1.468B-2.
X. Investigate and Prosecute Claims
43.  Subject to the requirement in Section VIII above, that leave of this Court is

required to resume or commence certain litigation, the Receiver is authorized, empowered,
and directed to investigate, prosecute, defend, intervene in or otherwise participate in,
compromise, and/cr adjust actions in any state, federal or foreign court or proceeding of any
kind as may in his discretion, and in consultation with the CFTC’s counsel, be advisable or
proper to recover and/or conserve Receivership Property.

44.  Subject to his obligation to expend receivership funds in a reasonable and
cost-effective manner, the Receiver is authorized, empowered, and directed to investigate the
manner in which the financial and business affairs of the Receivership Defendants were
conducted and (after obtaining leave of this Court) to institute such actions and legal
proceedings, for the benefit and on behalf of the Receivership Estate, as the Receiver deems
necessary and appropriate. The Receiver may seek, among other legal and equitable relief,
the imposition of constructive trusts, disgorgement of profits, asset turnover, avoidance of
fraudulent transfers, rescission and restitution, collection of debts, and such other relief from
this Court as may be necessary to enforce this Order. Where appropriate, the Receiver

should provide prior notice to counsel for the CFTC before commencing investigations

and/or actions.

19
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45, The Receiver hereby holds, and is therefore empowered to wajve, all
privileges, including the attorney-client privilege, held by all entity Receivership Defendants.

46.  The Receiver has a continuing duty to ensure that there are no conflicts of
interest between the Receiver, his Retained Personnel (as that term is defined below), and the

Receivership Estate.

XI1. Bankruptey Filing

47.  The Receiver may seek authorization of this Court to file voluntary petitions
for relief under Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code™) for the
Receivership Defendants. If a Receivership Defendant is placed in bankruptcy proceedings,
the Receiver may become, and may be empowered to operate cach of the Receivership
Estates as, a debtor in possession. In such a situation, the Receiver shall have all of the
powers and duties as provided a debtor in possession under the Bankruptcy Code to the
exclusion of any other person or entity. Pursuant to Paragraph 5 above, the Receiver is
vested with management authority for all entity Receivership Defendants and may therefore
file and manage a Chapter 11 petition.

48, The provisions of Section VIII above bar any person or entity, other than the

Receiver, from placing any of the Receivership Defendants in bankruptcy proceedings.

XII. Liability of Receiver

49, Until further Order of this Court, the Receiver shall not be required to post

bond or give an undertaking of any type in connection with his fiduciary obligations in this

matter.

50.  The Receiver and his agents, acting within scope of such agency, are entitied

20
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anyone for their own good faith compliance with any order, rule, law, judgment, or decree.
In no event shall the Receiver or his agents be liable to anyone for their good faith

compliance with their duties and responsibilities.

51. This Court shall retain jurisdiction over any action filed against the Receiver

capacities,

52. In the event the Recejver decides to resign, the Receiver shall first give
written notice to the CFTC s counsel of record and the Court of jts intention, and the
resignation shall not be effective until the Coyrt appoints a successor. The Receiver shall
then follow such instructions as the Court may provide.

XTI1. Recommendations ang Reports

53. The Receiver is authorized, e¢mpowered, and directed to develop a plan for the
fair, reasonable, and efficient recovery and liquidation of aj] remaining, recovered, and
recoverable Receivership Property (the “Liquidation Plan™), |

54, The Receiver has filed and the Court hag approved a Liquidation Plan. Doc,
##103, 112.

55. Within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar quarter, the Receiver
shall file and serve a fuli report and accounting of his activities (the “Quarterly Status
Report™), reflectin g (to the best of the Recejver's knowledge as of the period covered by the
report) the existence, value, and location of all Receivership Property, and of the extent of

liabilities, both those claimed to exist by others and those the Receiver believes to be legal

21
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obligations of the Receivership Estate. The Receiver filed his first Status Report on June 14,
2019. Doc. #113. His next Status Report shall be due within thirty (30) days of September
30,2019, which is the end of the third calendar quarter for 2019.

56.  The Quarterly Status Report shall contain the following:

A. A summary of the operations of the Receiver;

B. The amount of cash on hand, the amount and nature of accrued
administrative expenses, and the amount of unencumbered funds in
the estate;

C. A schedule of all the Receiver’s receipts and disbursements (attached

as Exhibit A to the Quarterly Status Report), with information for the
quarterly period covered and information for the entire duration of the
receivership;

D. A description of all known Receivership Property, including
approximate or actual valuations, anticipated or proposed
dispositions, and reasons for retaining assets where no disposition is
intended;

E. A description of liquidated and unliquidated claims held by the
Receivership Estate, including the need for forensic and/or
investigatory resources; approximate valuations of claims; and
anticipated or proposed methods of enforcing such claims (including
likelihood of success in: (i) reducing the claims to judgment; and, (ii)
collecting such judgments);

F. The status of creditor claims proceedings, after such proceedings have
been commenced; and,

G. The Receiver’s recommendations for a continuation or discontinuation
of the receivership and the reasons for the recommendations.

57. Onthe request of the CFTC, the Receiver shall provide the CFTC with any
documentation that the CFTC deems necessary to meet its reporting requirements, that is
mandated by statute or Congress, or that is otherwise necessary to further the CFTC’s

mission.

22
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XIV. Fees, Expenses and Accountings

58. Subject to Paragraphs 59--65 immediately below, the Receiver need not obtain
Court approval prior to the disbursement of Receivership Funds for expenses in the ordinary
course of the administration and operation of the receivership. Further, prior Court approval
is not required for payments of applicable federal, state, or local taxes.

59. Subject to Paragraph 60 immediately below, the Receiver is authorized to
solicit persons and entities (“Retained Personnel”) to assist him in carrying out the duties and
responsibilities described in this Order. The Receiver shall not engage any Retained
Personnel without obtaining an Order of the Court authorizing such engagement.

60. The Receiver and Retained Personnel are entitled to reasonable compensation
and expense reimbursement from the Receivership Estates. The Receiver and Retained
Personnel shall not be compensated or reimbursed by, or otherwise entitled to, any funds
from the Court or the CFTC. Such compensation shall require the prior review by the CFTC
and approval of the Court.

61.  Within forty-five (45) days after the end of each calendar quarter, the
Receiver and Retained Personnel shall apply to the Court for compensation and expense
reimbursement from the Receivership Estates (the “Quarterly Fee Applications™). At least
thirty (30) days prior to filing each Quarterly Fee Application with the Court, the Receiver
will serve upon counsel for the CFTC a complete copy of the proposed Quarterly Fee
Application, together with all exhibits and relevant billing information in a format to be
provided by the CFTC’s staff. The Receiver filed his first fee application on June 14, 2019.

Doc. #114. The next fee application shall be due within forty-five (45) days after September

23
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30, 2019, which is the end of the third calendar quarter for 2019..

62.  All Quarterly Fee Applications will be interim and will be subject to cost
benefit and final reviews at the close of the receivership. At the close of the receivership, the
Receiver will file a final fee application, describing in detail the costs and benefits associated
with all litigation and other actions pursued by the Receiver during the course of the
receivership,

63. Quarterly Fee Applications may be subject to a holdback in the amount of
20% of the amount of fees and expenses for each application filed with the Court. The total
amounts held back during the course of the receivership will be paid out at the discretion of
the Court as part of the final fee application submitted at the close of the receivership.

64.  Each Quarterly Fee Application shall:

A. Comply with the terms of the CFTC billing instructions agreed to by
the Receiver; and,

B. Contain representations (in addition to the Certification required by the
Billing Instructions) that: (i) the fees and expenses included therein
were incurred in the best interests of the Receivership Estate; and (ii)
with the exception of the Billing Instructions, the Receiver has not
entered into any agreement, written or oral, express or implied, with
any person or entity concerning the amount of compensation paid or to
be paid from the Receivership Estate, or any sharing thereof.

65. At the close of the Receivership, the Receiver shall submit a Final Accounting

as well as the Receiver’s final application for compensation and expense reimbursement.
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IT IS SO ORDERED, this / __dayof _} /// » 2019; at Tampa, Flori}ia. (
T v v

/ Ly .
{: . /_/:/’/{/( - ‘ y/'l V

Hon. Vi’fginia M. Hcrnandez/(‘ovington
United States District Judge

Hon. Sean P. Flynn
United States Magistrate Judge
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